Calculus of Variations



On the Brezis-Nirenberg problem for a Kirchhoff type equation in high dimension

F. Faraci¹ · K. Silva²

Received: 10 June 2020 / Accepted: 16 December 2020 / Published online: 18 January 2021 © The Author(s), under exclusive licence to Springer-Verlag GmbH, DE part of Springer Nature 2021

Abstract

The present paper deals with a parametrized Kirchhoff type problem involving a critical nonlinearity in high dimension. Existence, non existence and multiplicity of solutions are obtained under the effect of a subcritical perturbation by combining variational properties with a careful analysis of the fiber maps of the energy functional associated to the problem. The particular case of a pure power perturbation is also addressed. Through the study of the Nehari manifolds we extend the general case to a wider range of the parameters.

Contents

Introduction and main results	2
Preliminaries results	6
Existence and non-existence results: general case	11
3.1 Global minimizers for $\lambda \geq \lambda_0^*$	12
3.2 Mountain pass type solution for $\lambda \geq \lambda_0^*$	
3.3 Local minimizers and mountain pass type solutions for $\lambda < \lambda_0^*$	15
3.4 Non-existence result	
A particular case: $f(x, u) = u ^{p-2}u$	19
4.1 A refined non-existence result	21
4.2 Existence of the second solution when $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b < C_2(N)$	22
4.3 Brezis–Nirenberg problem: the limit case $b \to 0$	24
ppendix A: Some topological properties of the Nehari manifolds	29
ppendix B: The case $\lambda = 0$	
eferences	33
	Preliminaries results

Mathematics Subject Classification 35J20 · 35B33

Communicated by P. H. Rabinowitz.

> F. Faraci ffaraci@dmi.unict.it

- Department of Mathematics and Computer Sciences, University of Catania, 95125 Catania, Italy
- ² Instituto de Matemática e Estatística, Universidade Federal de Goiás, Goiânia 74001-970, Brazil



22 Page 2 of 33 F. Faraci, K. Silva

1 Introduction and main results

Nonlocal boundary value problems of the type

$$\begin{cases} -\left(a+b\int_{\Omega}|\nabla u|^2dx\right)\Delta u = f(x,u), \text{ in } \Omega\\ u = 0, & \text{on } \partial\Omega \end{cases}$$

are related to the stationary version of the equation

$$\frac{\partial^2 u}{\partial t^2} - \left(a + b \int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 dx\right) \Delta u = f(t, x, u),$$

proposed by Kirchhoff [11] as a generalization of the D'Alembert's wave equation to describe the transversal oscillations of a stretched string. Here u denotes the displacement, f is the external force, b is the initial tension and a is related to the intrinsic properties of the string. The importance of these kind of problems and its mathematical developments were made very clear after the recent short survey [17].

Recently, the existence and multiplicity of solutions of Kirchhoff problems under the effect of a critical nonlinearity f have received considerable attention. Indeed, the challenging feature of such problems is due to the presence of a nonlocal term together with the lack of compactness of the Sobolev embedding $H_0^1(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^{2^*}(\Omega)$ which prevent the application of standard variational methods.

The existence and multiplicity of solutions of Kirchhoff type equations with critical exponents have been investigated by using different techniques as truncation and variational methods, the Nehari manifold approach, the Ljusternik–Schnirelmann category theory, genus theory (see for instance [3,4,7] and the references therein).

In the recent works [1,6,8,9,12,13,20], an application of the Lions' Concentration Compactness principle allows to prove the Palais Smale condition of the energy functional, a key property for the application of the well known Mountain Pass Theorem. Notice that according to the space dimension N, the geometry of the energy functional changes and when $N \ge 4$ (coercive case) the property holds when a and b satisfy a suitable constraint (see [8,9,13,20]).

Indeed, when $N \ge 4$, in [5] it is shown that the interaction between the Kirchhoff operator and the critical term leads to some useful variational properties of the energy functional such as the weak lower semicontinuity and the Palais Smale property when $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b \ge C_1(N)$ or $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_2(N)$ respectively, for suitable constants $C_1(N) < C_2(N)$.

In this paper we study the following critical Kirchhoff problem

$$(\mathcal{P}_{\lambda}) \begin{cases} -\left(a+b\int_{\Omega}|\nabla u|^2dx\right)\Delta u = |u|^{2^*-2}u + \lambda f(x,u), \text{ in } \Omega \\ u = 0, & \text{on } \partial \Omega \end{cases}$$

where $\Omega \subseteq \mathbb{R}^N$ (N > 4) is a bounded domain, a, b are positive fixed numbers, 2^* is the Sobolev critical exponent, λ is a positive parameter, f a subcritical Carathéodory function.

In the present paper, through a careful analysis of the fiber maps associated to the energy functional, we will study the existence, non existence and the multiplicity of solutions of (\mathcal{P}_{λ}) . Indeed, by using the fibration method introduced in [16] and the notion of extremal values of [10], we will describe the topological changes of the energy functional, when the parameters a, b, λ vary. As it will become clear throughout our study, from the very geometry of the



fibers, we will be able to deduce a precise, and in some cases complete picture on existence, non-existence and multiplicity results.

When the nonlinearity f is a pure power term, i.e. $f(x, u) = |u|^{p-2}u$ for some $p \in (2, 2^*)$, we will go further in our study and through a detailed analysis of the Nehari set associated to problem (\mathcal{P}_{λ}) (see [14,15]), we will show the existence of two critical hyperbolas on the plane (a, b), that separates the plane into regions where the energy functional exhibits distinct topological properties. Some of the ideas used here come from [18,19], where the subcritical case was studied and a complete bifurcation diagram was provided. Our work contains new results in the framework of Kirchhoff type equations with critical nonlinearity and extends the results of [13] (for a detailed comparison see below).

To give a better description of our results, let us endow the Sobolev space $H_0^1(\Omega)$ with the classical norm $\|u\| = \left(\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u|^2 \ dx\right)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ and denote by $\|u\|_q$ the Lebesgue norm in $L^q(\Omega)$ for $1 \le q \le 2^*$, i.e. $\|u\|_q = \left(\int_{\Omega} |u|^q \ dx\right)^{\frac{1}{q}}$. Let S_N be the embedding constant of $H_0^1(\Omega) \hookrightarrow L^{2^*}(\Omega)$, i.e.

$$S_N = \inf_{u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}} \frac{\|u\|^2}{\|u\|_{2^*}^2}.$$
 (1)

Let us recall that

$$S_N = \frac{N(N-2)}{4} \omega_N^{\frac{2}{N}}$$

(where ω_N is the volume of the unit ball in \mathbb{R}^N) is sharp, but is never achieved unless $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^N$. For N > 4 let us introduce the following constants which will have a crucial role in the sequel:

$$C_1(N) = \frac{4(N-4)^{\frac{N-4}{2}}}{N^{\frac{N-2}{2}}S_N^{\frac{N}{2}}}$$
 and $C_2(N) = \frac{2(N-4)^{\frac{N-4}{2}}}{(N-2)^{\frac{N-2}{2}}S_N^{\frac{N}{2}}}$

and notice that $C_1(N) < C_2(N)$.

On the nonlinearity f we will assume the following:

- (\mathcal{F}_1) $f: \Omega \times \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ is a Carathéodory function satisfying f(x,0) = 0 for a.a. $x \in \Omega$;
- (\mathcal{F}_2) f(x,v) > 0 for every v > 0 and a.a. $x \in \Omega$, f(x,v) < 0 for every v < 0 and a.a. $x \in \Omega$. Moreover there exists $\mu > 0$ such that $f(x,v) \ge \mu > 0$ for a.a. $x \in \Omega$ and every $v \in I$, being I an open interval of $(0, +\infty)$;
- (\mathcal{F}_3) there exist c > 0, $p \in (2, 2^*)$ such that $|f(x, v)| \le c(1 + |v|^{p-1})$ for every $v \in \mathbb{R}$ and a.a. $x \in \Omega$;
- (\mathcal{F}_4) f(x, v) = o(|v|) for $v \to 0$ and uniformly in $x \in \Omega$.

Denote by $\Phi_{\lambda}: H_0^1(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}$ the energy functional associated to (\mathcal{P}_{λ}) ,

$$\Phi_{\lambda}(u) = \frac{a}{2} \|u\|^2 + \frac{b}{4} \|u\|^4 - \frac{1}{2^*} \|u\|_{2^*}^{2^*} - \lambda \int_{\Omega} F(x, u) dx \quad \text{for every } u \in H_0^1(\Omega),$$

where

$$F(x, v) = \int_0^v f(x, t)dt.$$

Note that from (\mathcal{F}_1) and (\mathcal{F}_3) , Φ_{λ} is well defined and $\Phi_{\lambda} \in C^1(H_0^1(\Omega))$.

Our first result establishes the existence of global minimizers when $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b \ge C_1(N)$.



22 Page 4 of 33 F. Faraci, K. Silva

Theorem 1.1 Assume (\mathcal{F}_1) – (\mathcal{F}_4) . If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_1(N)$, then there exists $\lambda_0^* := \lambda_0^*(a,b) > 0$ such that:

- (i) For each $\lambda > \lambda_0^*$, problem (\mathcal{P}_{λ}) has a non-zero solution u_{λ} , which is a global minimizer to Φ_{λ} with negative energy.
- (ii) Problem $(\mathcal{P}_{\lambda_0^*})$ has a non-zero solution $u_{\lambda_0^*}$, which is a global minimizer to $\Phi_{\lambda_0^*}$ with zero energy.
- (iii) If $0 < \lambda < \lambda_0^*$, then $\Phi_{\lambda}(u) > 0$ for all $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ and 0 is a global minimizer of Φ_{λ} .

If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b=C_1(N)$, then for each $\lambda>0$, problem (\mathcal{P}_{λ}) has a non-zero solution u_{λ} , which is a global minimizer to Φ_{λ} with negative energy. Furthermore, if $(a_k)_k$, $(b_k)_k$ are sequences satisfying $a_k^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b_k\downarrow C_1(N)$, $a_k\to a>0$ and $b_k\to b>0$, then $\lambda_0^*(a_k,b_k)\to 0$.

In the sequel, λ_0^* is as in Theorem 1.1. For $\lambda < \lambda_0^*$ but close to λ_0^* we can still prove the existence of a non trivial local minimizer as it is shown in the next result.

Theorem 1.2 Assume (\mathcal{F}_1) – (\mathcal{F}_4) . If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_1(N)$, then there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that for each $\lambda_0^* - \varepsilon < \lambda < \lambda_0^*$, problem (\mathcal{P}_λ) has a non-zero solution u_λ , which is a local minimizer to Φ_λ with positive energy. Moreover $\Phi_\lambda(u) > 0$ for all $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$.

A second solution of (P_{λ}) of mountain pass type is ensured by the next theorem provided $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_2(N)$.

Theorem 1.3 Assume (\mathcal{F}_1) – (\mathcal{F}_4) . If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_2(N)$, then there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that for each $\lambda > \lambda_0^* - \varepsilon$, problem (\mathcal{P}_λ) has a non-zero solution v_λ , which is of a mountain pass type to Φ_λ , with positive energy. If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b = C_2(N)$, then the same result holds for λ sufficiently large.

For the next result, we need the additional hypothesis:

 (\mathcal{F}_5) For each $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)\setminus\{0\}$, the function $(0,\infty)\ni t\mapsto \int_{\Omega} f(x,tu(x))dx$ is C^1 .

Theorem 1.4 Assume (\mathcal{F}_1) – (\mathcal{F}_5) . If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_2(N)$, then there exists $\lambda^* := \lambda^*(a,b) \in (0,\lambda_0^*)$, such that if $\lambda \in (0,\lambda^*)$, then (\mathcal{P}_λ) has no non-zero solution. Moreover, there exists $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ such that $\Phi'_\lambda(u)u = 0$ if, and only if $\lambda \geq \lambda^*$.

Now we focus on the power case $f(x, u) = |u|^{p-2}u$ with $p \in (2, 2^*)$. In this case, some conclusions of Theorems 1.1, 1.3 and 1.4 had already been established in [13]. Indeed, a comparison between the constants α_2 (defined in [13]) and $C_2(N)$ shows (after some obvious modifications with respect to a > 0) that $\alpha_2 = C_2(N)$. Therefore [13, Theorem B.8] corresponds to our Theorem 1.1 with the following observations:

- (1) In [13, Theorem B.8] the existence of a global minimum of the energy functional u_{λ} is only proved for $\alpha_2 = C_2(N) \le a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b$ and λ sufficiently large in order to make the infimum negative, while in our case, we find u_{λ} for all $C_1(N) \le a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b$ (remember that $C_1(N) < C_2(N)$) and there is a threshold λ_0^* for the sign of the energy of Φ_{λ} . Moreover, we proved the existence of a local minimizer with positive energy in case $\Phi_{\lambda}(u) > 0$ for $u \ne 0$ and $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_1(N)$ (see Theorem 1.2).
- (2) The arguments used in [13, Theorem B.8], to prove a mountain pass geometry to Φ_{λ} require λ to be sufficiently large in order to make the infimum negative. We show that this geometry is preserved even in the case where $\Phi_{\lambda}(u) > 0$ for all $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ (see Theorems 1.2, 1.3).



(3) Theorem 1.4 was proved in [13, Theorem B.8] for λ sufficiently small. We also show that there exists $u \in H^1_0(\Omega)\setminus\{0\}$ such that $\Phi'_\lambda(u)u=0$ if, and only if $\lambda \geq \lambda^*$. However, when $f(x,u)=|u|^{p-2}u$ this result can be improved (see Theorem 4.3).

Concerning item (1), in fact, we have now a fairly complete result. Combining Theorem 1.1 with [13, Proposition 4.2] we conclude that the curve $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b = C_1(N)$ is a threshold in the following sense:

Theorem 1.5 Suppose that $f(x,u) = |u|^{p-2}u$. If $0 < a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b \le C_1(N)$, then Φ_{λ} has a global minimizer with negative energy for all $\lambda > 0$. If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_1(N)$, then Φ_{λ} has a global minimizer with negative energy if, and only if, $\lambda > \lambda_0^*(a,b) > 0$, it has two global minimizers with zero energy for $\lambda = \lambda_0^*(a,b)$, and has zero as unique minimizer if $\lambda < \lambda_0^*(a,b)$. Moreover, if $(a_k)_k$, $(b_k)_k$ are sequences satisfying $a_k^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b_k \downarrow C_1(N)$, $a_k \to a > 0$ and $b_k \to b > 0$, then $\lambda_0^*(a_k,b_k) \to 0$. In all cases the global minimizer is a solution to problem (\mathcal{P}_{λ}) .

Theorem 1.5 settles down the existence of global minimizers with negative energy for all ranges of $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b$. It complements [13, Theorem 1.2 and Theorem B.8].

Concerning the second solution, we complement [13, Theorem 1.1] with the following results.

Theorem 1.6 Suppose that $f(x, u) = |u|^{p-2}u$ and $0 < a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b < C_2(N)$. Then there exists $p_0(a, b) \in (2, 2^*)$ such that if $p \in (p_0(a, b), 2^*)$, then for all $\lambda > 0$, problem (\mathcal{P}_{λ}) has a non-zero solution v_{λ} with positive energy.

Theorem 1.7 Suppose that $f(x, u) = |u|^{p-2}u$. For each a, b > 0 there exists $\tilde{\lambda} := \tilde{\lambda}(a, b, p) > 0$ such that for all $\lambda > \tilde{\lambda}$, problem (\mathcal{P}_{λ}) has a non-zero solution v_{λ} with positive energy.

We note here that in [13, Theorem 1.1], it was proved that for each fixed p, the conclusion of Theorem 1.6 holds true for sufficiently small b. We refer the reader to Theorem 4.4 and Remark 4.1, in particular to item (ii), where we show that the technique used to prove [13, Theorem 1.1] (which we also used) can not hold for all values of a, b, p. However, the above theorem ensures that for each p problem (\mathcal{P}_{λ}) still has a second solution provided λ is big enough.

We conclude this work with an existence result à la Brezis Nirenberg [2] which is a consequence of our study in the limit case $(b \downarrow 0)$.

Theorem 1.8 For each $\lambda > 0$ and $p \in (2, 2^*)$, the problem

$$(\mathcal{Q}_{\lambda}) \quad \left\{ \begin{aligned} -\Delta u &= |u|^{2^*-2}u + \lambda |u|^{p-2}u, \ \ \text{in } \Omega, \\ u &= 0, \end{aligned} \right. \quad \text{on } \partial \Omega.$$

has a nontrivial solution.

The last remark of this Section explains the reason why we focus on positive parameters λ :

Remark 1.1 If $\lambda \leq 0$, problem (\mathcal{P}_{λ}) might have only the zero solution. Indeed, assume that Ω is a star shaped domain and $f(v) = |v|^{p-2}v$ with $p \in (2, 2^*)$. Then, if u is a solution of (\mathcal{P}_{λ}) then $w = (a + b\|u\|^2)^{-\frac{1}{2^*-2}}u$ satisfies the equation $-\Delta w = |w|^{2^*-2}w + \mu|w|^{p-2}w$ for some $\mu \leq 0$. Applying the Pohozaev identity we deduce that w = 0.



22 Page 6 of 33 F. Faraci, K. Silva

The work is organized as follows:

- in Sect. 2 we collect some preliminaries results that will be used throughout the work;
- in Sect. 3 we prove Theorems 1.1, 1.2, 1.3 and 1.4;
- in Sect. 4 we prove Theorems 1.5, 1.6, 1.7 and 1.8,
- in "Appendices A and B" we present some technical results concerning the Nehari set associated to problem (P_λ) and (P₀) respectively.

2 Preliminaries results

In this Section we provide some auxiliary results which will be used throughout the work. Here only hypotheses (\mathcal{F}_1) – (\mathcal{F}_4) are used. For each a, b > 0, define $g, h : (0, \infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$g(t) = \frac{a}{2} + \frac{b}{4}t^2 - S_N^{\frac{-2^*}{2}} \frac{t^{2^*-2}}{2^*},$$

$$h(t) = a + bt^2 - S_N^{\frac{-2^*}{2}} t^{2^*-2}.$$

A simple calculation shows that

Lemma 2.1 There holds:

(i) g has a unique local minimizer at

$$t_0 = \left(\frac{2^*b}{2(2^*-2)}S_N^{\frac{2^*}{2}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2^*-4}}. (2)$$

Moreover, $g(t_0) > 0$ if and only if $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_1(N)$, while if $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b = C_1(N)$, then $g(t_0) = 0$.

(ii) h has a unique local minimizer at

$$t_0 = \left(\frac{2b}{2^* - 2} S_N^{\frac{2^*}{2}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2^* - 4}}.$$
 (3)

Moreover, $h(t_0) > 0$ if and only if $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_2(N)$, while if $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b = C_2(N)$, then $h(t_0) = 0$.

Remark 2.1 Lemma 2.1 gives the same conclusion if instead of g, h we use $t^2g(t)$ and $t^2h(t)$. Indeed, note for example that $t^2g(t) = 0$ and $(t^2g(t))' = 0$ if, and only if, g(t) = g'(t) = 0.

As a consequence of Lemma 2.1 and Remark 2.1 we have

Corollary 2.1 Suppose that $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b < C_2(N)$, then the function $\overline{g}(t) = t^2g(t)$ has only two critical points, $0 < t_{a,b}^- < t_{a,b}^+$. Moreover, $t_{a,b}^-$ is a local maximum and $t_{a,b}^+$ is a local minimum with $\overline{g}''(t_{a,b}^-) < 0 < \overline{g}''(t_{a,b}^+)$. Furthermore if $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b = C_2(N)$, then the function $g(t)t^2$ is increasing and has a unique critical point at $t_{a,b}$ satisfying $\overline{g}''(t_{a,b}) = 0$ and

$$g(t_{a,b})t_{a,b}^2 = \frac{(2^* - 2)^2 a^2}{4 \cdot 2^* (4 - 2^*)b}$$

Proposition 2.1 *Suppose that* $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ *, then*



$$\frac{a}{2}\|u\|^2 + \frac{b}{4}\|u\|^4 t^2 - \|u\|_{2^*}^{2^*} \frac{t^{2^*-2}}{2^*} > g(\|u\|t)\|u\|^2;$$

(ii) for all t > 0 we have

$$a||u||^2 + b||u||^4t^2 - ||u||_{2^*}^{2^*}t^{2^*-2} > h(||u||t)||u||^2.$$

Proof (i) Indeed note that

$$\begin{split} t^2 \left[\frac{a}{2} \|u\|^2 + \frac{b}{4} \|u\|^4 t^2 - \|u\|_{2^*}^{2^*} \frac{t^{2^*-2}}{2^*} \right] &= \frac{a}{2} (\|u\|t)^2 + \frac{b}{4} (\|u\|t)^4 - \frac{\|u\|_{2^*}^{2^*}}{\|u\|^{2^*}} \frac{(\|u\|t)^{2^*}}{2^*} \\ &> \frac{a}{2} (\|u\|t)^2 + \frac{b}{4} (\|u\|t)^4 - S_N^{-\frac{2^*}{2}} \frac{(\|u\|t)^{2^*}}{2^*}, \qquad t > 0. \end{split}$$

The conclusion follows from Lemma 2.1. The strict inequality above is a consequence of the non existence of minimizers for (1). The proof of (ii) is similar.

The next Lemma gives some important variational properties of the energy functional Φ_{λ} .

Lemma 2.2 The following holds true.

- (1) Let a, b be positive numbers such that $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b \ge C_1(N)$. Suppose that $\lambda_k \to \lambda \ge 0$ and $u_k \to u$. Then, $\Phi_{\lambda}(u) \le \liminf_k \Phi_{\lambda_k}(u_k)$. Moreover, if $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_1(N)$ and $\Phi_{\lambda}(u) = \lim_k \Phi_{\lambda_k}(u_k)$, then $u_k \to u$.
- (2) Let a,b be positive numbers such that $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b \geq C_2(N)$. Suppose that $\lambda_k \to \lambda \geq 0$, $\Phi_{\lambda_k}(u_k) \to c \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\Phi'_{\lambda_k}(u_k) \to 0$. If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b = C_2(N)$ assume also that

$$c \neq \frac{(2^* - 2)^2 a^2}{4 \cdot 2^* (4 - 2^*) b}$$

Then, u_k has a convergent subsequence.

(3) Let a, b be positive numbers such that $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b \ge C_2(N)$. Suppose that $\lambda_k \to \lambda \ge 0$ and $u_k \to u$. Then, $\Phi'_{\lambda}(u)(u) \le \liminf_k \Phi'_{\lambda_k}(u_k)(u_k)$.

Proof Item (1) can be found, after some mild modifications, in [5, Lemma 2.1]. In a similar way (3) can be proved. Item (2) follows easily from [5, Lemma 2.2] when $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_2(N)$ (see also [13, Proposition B.1]). The case $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b = C_2(N)$ can be deduced from [13, Proposition B.4]. Note from Corollary 2.1 that

$$\frac{(2^* - 2)^2 a^2}{4 \cdot 2^* (4 - 2^*) b} = g(t_{a,b}) t_{a,b}^2,$$

and one can immediately see, after introducing the parameter a, that $g(t_{a,b})t_{a,b}^2 = g(\tau_b^0)$, where $g(\tau_b^0)$ was defined in [13, Lemma B3].

For each $\lambda \geq 0$ and $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$, define the fiber maps associated to Φ_{λ} , $\psi_{\lambda,u}: (0,+\infty) \to \mathbb{R}$ by

$$\psi_{\lambda,u}(t) := \Phi_{\lambda}(tu) = \frac{a}{2} \|u\|^2 t^2 + \frac{b}{4} \|u\|^4 t^4 - \frac{1}{2^*} \|u\|_{2^*}^{2^*} t^{2^*} - \lambda \int_{\Omega} F(x,tu) dx.$$



22 Page 8 of 33 F. Faraci, K. Silva

Proposition 2.2 *Suppose* $\lambda \geq 0$ *and* $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ *, then*

(i) there exists a neighborhood V of the origin such that $\psi_{\lambda,u}(t) > 0$ for all $t \in V \cap (0, +\infty)$. Moreover $\psi_{\lambda,u}(t) \to \infty$ as $t \to \infty$ and $\psi_{\lambda,u}$ is bounded from below;

(ii) there exists a neighborhood V of the origin such that $\psi'_{\lambda,u}(t) > 0$ for all $t \in V \cap (0, +\infty)$. Moreover $\psi'_{\lambda,u}(t) \to \infty$ as $t \to \infty$ and $\psi'_{\lambda,u}$ is bounded from below.

Proof (i) Note that

$$\psi_{\lambda,u}(t) = t^2 \left(\frac{a}{2} \|u\|^2 + \frac{b}{4} \|u\|^4 t^2 - \frac{1}{2^*} \|u\|_{2^*}^{2^*} t^{2^*-2} - \lambda \int_{\Omega} \frac{F(x,tu)}{t^2} dx \right).$$

From (\mathcal{F}_4) we deduce the existence of V. On the other hand we have

$$\psi_{\lambda,u}(t) = t^4 \left(\frac{a}{2} \|u\|^2 t^{-2} + \frac{b}{4} \|u\|^4 - \frac{1}{2^*} \|u\|_{2^*}^{2^*} t^{2^* - 4} - \lambda \int_{\Omega} \frac{F(x, tu)}{t^4} dx \right).$$

Since $2 , we conclude from <math>(\mathcal{F}_3)$ that $\psi_{\lambda,u}(t) \to \infty$ as $t \to \infty$. The last part is obvious.

(ii) Note that

$$\psi_{\lambda,u}'(t) = t \left(a\|u\|^2 + b\|u\|^4 t^2 - \|u\|_{2^*}^{2^*} t^{2^*-2} - \lambda \int_{\Omega} \frac{f(x,tu)u}{t} dx \right).$$

From (\mathcal{F}_4) again we deduce the existence of V. On the other hand we have

$$\psi_{\lambda,u}'(t) = t^3 \left(a \|u\|^2 t^{-2} + b \|u\|^4 - \|u\|_{2^*}^{2^*} t^{2^*-4} - \lambda \int_{\Omega} \frac{f(x,tu)}{t^3} dx \right).$$

Since $2 , we conclude from <math>(\mathcal{F}_4)$ that $\psi'_{\lambda,u}(t) \to \infty$ as $t \to \infty$. The last part is obvious.

The remaining part of this Section is devoted to define a suitable extremal parameter λ_0^* which will be crucial in our arguments. Consider the system

$$\begin{cases} \psi_{\lambda,u}(t) = 0, \\ \psi'_{\lambda,u}(t) = 0, \\ \psi_{\lambda,u}(t) = \inf_{s>0} \psi_{\lambda,u}(s). \end{cases}$$
 (4)

Proposition 2.3 Assume that $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b \ge C_1(N)$ and take $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)\setminus\{0\}$. Then there exists a unique positive $\lambda_0(u)$ satisfying (4).

Proof Note that

$$\psi_{\lambda,u}(t) - \psi_{\lambda',u}(t) = (\lambda' - \lambda) \int_{\Omega} F(x, tu) dx.$$
 (5)

Since $F(x, v) \ge 0$ for all $v \in \mathbb{R}$ (see (\mathcal{F}_2)), we conclude from (5) that $\psi_{\lambda,u}(t) - \psi_{\lambda',u}(t) \ge 0$ for all $t \in \mathbb{R}$ and $0 \le \lambda < \lambda'$. Moreover, on compact sets of the form [c, d], with 0 < c < d, we deduce that $\psi_{\lambda,u} \to \psi_{\lambda',u}$ uniformly as $\lambda \to \lambda'$. From Proposition 2.2, there exists a neighborhood of the origin $V_{\lambda'}$ such that $\psi_{\lambda',u}(t) > 0$ if $t \in V_{\lambda'} \cap (0, +\infty)$, therefore $\psi_{\lambda,u}(t) > 0$ for all $0 \le \lambda < \lambda'$. Once $\psi_{0,u}$ is positive on $(0, \infty)$ (see Proposition 2.1) and tends to ∞ as $t \to \infty$ we conclude that for λ sufficiently small, the fiber map $\psi_{\lambda,u}$ is positive in $(0, \infty)$. On the other hand, fixed t > 0 one can easily see that $\psi_{\lambda,u}(t) \to -\infty$ as $\lambda \to \infty$. Therefore, there exists a unique $\lambda_0(u)$ solving system (4).



Now we claim that $\lambda_0(u) > 0$. Indeed, from Lemma 2.1 and Proposition 2.1 we have that

$$\psi_{0,u}(t) > g(\|u\|t)(\|u\|t)^2 \ge 0, \quad \forall t > 0.$$

From (5) we conclude that $\lambda_0(u) > 0$.

Remark 2.2 The proof of Proposition 2.3 also shows that if $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b < C_1(N)$, then there exists $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)\setminus\{0\}$ such that $\lambda_0(u) < 0$.

Proposition 2.4 For each $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ one has: $\lambda_0(u)$ is the unique parameter $\lambda > 0$ for which the fiber map $\psi_{\lambda,u}$ has a critical point with zero energy and satisfies $\inf_{t>0} \psi_{\lambda,u}(t) = \inf_{t>0} \psi_{\lambda_0(u),u}(t) = 0$. Moreover, if $\lambda > \lambda_0(u)$, then $\inf_{t>0} \psi_{\lambda,u}(t) < 0$ while if $0 < \lambda \leq \lambda_0(u)$, then $\inf_{t>0} \psi_{\lambda,u}(t) = 0$.

Proof Choose any t>0 that solves (4). If $\lambda>\lambda_0(u)$, then $\psi_{\lambda,u}(t)<\psi_{\lambda_0(u),u}(t)=0$ and the claim follows. If $\lambda\leq\lambda_0(u)$, then $\psi_{\lambda,u}(t)\geq\psi_{\lambda_0(u),u}(t)\geq0$ for all $t\geq0$ and the conclusion follows at once.

We introduce the following extremal parameter (see [10])

$$\lambda_0^* = \inf_{u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}} \lambda_0(u).$$

Proposition 2.5 *The following holds true.*

- (i) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_1(N)$, then $\lambda_0^* > 0$.
- (ii) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b = C_1(N)$, then $\lambda_0^* = 0$. Moreover if $u_k \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ satisfies $\lambda_0(u_k) \to \lambda_0^* = 0$, then $u_k \rightharpoonup 0$ and $\frac{\|u_k\|_{2*}^2}{\|u_k\|_{2*}^2} \to S_N$.

Proof (i) Let us prove that $\lambda_0^* > 0$. Notice first that the function $u \to \lambda_0(u)$ is zero homogeneous. Indeed, if $(t, \lambda_0(u))$ solves system (4) and $\mu > 0$, then

$$\begin{cases} \psi_{\lambda,\mu u}(t) = \psi_{\lambda,u}(\mu t) = 0, \\ \psi'_{\lambda,\mu u}(t) = \psi'_{\lambda,u}(\mu t) = 0, \end{cases}$$

by uniqueness, $\lambda(\mu u) = \lambda(u)$. We argue by contradiction assuming that $\lambda_0^* = 0$. Then, there exists $\{u_k\} \subseteq H_0^1(\Omega)\setminus\{0\}$ such that $\lambda_k := \lambda_0(u_k) \to 0$. By homogeneity we can assume that $\|u_k\| = 1$. Then for each k, there exists $t_k > 0$ such that $\Phi_{\lambda_k}(t_k u_k) = \psi_{\lambda_k, u_k}(t_k) = 0$ or equivalently

$$\frac{a}{2} + \frac{b}{4}t_k^2 - \frac{1}{2^*} \|u_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*} t_k^{2^* - 2} - \lambda_k \int_{\Omega} \frac{F(x, t_k u_k)}{t_k^2} dx = 0.$$

Thus, by Proposition 2.1, we obtain for each $k \in \mathbb{N}$

$$g(t_k) < \frac{a}{2} + \frac{b}{4}t_k^2 - \frac{1}{2^*} \|u_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*} t_k^{2^* - 2} \le \lambda_k \int_{\Omega} \frac{F(x, t_k u_k)}{t_k^2} dx.$$
 (6)

Notice that from (\mathcal{F}_3) and (\mathcal{F}_4) , one has that for each $\varepsilon > 0$ there exists c > 0 such that $|f(x,v)| \le \varepsilon |v| + c|v|^{p-1}$ for all $x \in \Omega$, $v \in \mathbb{R}$. Thus, $|F(x,v)| \le \frac{\varepsilon}{2} v^2 + \frac{c}{p} |v|^p$ for all



22 Page 10 of 33 F. Faraci, K. Silva

 $x \in \Omega$, $v \in \mathbb{R}$. Hence, we deduce that $\{t_k\}$ is bounded in $(0, +\infty)$ and converge to some $\bar{t} > 0$. Thus, from (6) and Lemma 2.1 we deduce that

$$0 < g(\bar{t}) \le \lim_{k \to \infty} \lambda_k \int_{\Omega} \frac{F(x, t_k u_k)}{t_k^2} dx = 0,$$

which is a contradiction.

(ii) Without loss of generality we assume that $0 \in \Omega$. Fix $\varphi \in C_0^{\infty}(\Omega)$ such that $\varphi \ge 0$ and $\varphi(x) = 1$ in the open ball centered at 0 of radius R for some R > 0. For each $\varepsilon > 0$, define

$$v_{\varepsilon}(x) = \frac{\varphi(x)}{(\varepsilon + |x|^2)^{\frac{N-2}{2}}}.$$

Let $u_{\varepsilon} = v_{\varepsilon}/\|v_{\varepsilon}\|$ and note that $u_{\varepsilon} \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ and (see [2])

$$\|u_{\varepsilon}\| = 1, \ \|u_{\varepsilon}\|_{2^{*}}^{2^{*}} = S_{N}^{\frac{-2^{*}}{2}} + O(\varepsilon^{\frac{2^{*}N}{4}}), \ \|v_{\varepsilon}\| = \frac{c}{\varepsilon^{\frac{N-2}{4}}} + k(\varepsilon),$$
 (7)

where c > 0 does not depend on ε , $k(\varepsilon) > c_1 > 0$ for small $\varepsilon > 0$, where c_1 is a constant. Now given any $\lambda > 0$ and fixed t > 0, note that

$$\psi_{\lambda,u_{\varepsilon}}(t) = \frac{a}{2}t^{2} + \frac{b}{4}t^{4} - \frac{1}{2^{*}}\|u_{\varepsilon}\|_{2^{*}}^{2^{*}}t^{2^{*}} - \lambda \int_{\Omega} F(x,tu_{\varepsilon})dx$$
$$= t^{2}g(t) - \frac{1}{2^{*}}O(\varepsilon^{\frac{2^{*}N}{4}})t^{2^{*}} - \lambda \int_{\Omega} F(x,tu_{\varepsilon})dx.$$

Take $t = t_0$ where t_0 is given by Lemma 2.1 and notice that, since $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b = C_1(N)$, then $g(t_0) = 0$. We have that

$$\psi_{\lambda,u_{\varepsilon}}(t_0) = -\frac{1}{2^*} O(\varepsilon^{\frac{2^*N}{4}}) t_0^{2^*} - \lambda \int_{\Omega} F(x,t_0 u_{\varepsilon}) dx.$$

Let us estimate $\int_{\Omega} F(x, t_0 u_{\varepsilon}) dx$ from below. By assumption (\mathcal{F}_2) , one has that $f(x, v) \ge \mu \chi_I(v)$ (being χ_I the characteristic function of the interval I), so there exist $\alpha, \beta > 0$ such that $F(x, v) \ge \tilde{F}(v) := \mu \int_0^v \chi_I(t) dt \ge \beta$ for every $v \ge \alpha$. Following Corollary 2.1 of [2] and using the positivity and monotonicity of F,

$$\begin{split} \int_{\Omega} F(x, t_0 u_{\varepsilon}) dx &\geq \int_{|x| \leq R} F(x, t_0 u_{\varepsilon}) dx \geq \int_{|x| \leq R} F\left(x, \frac{t_0}{\|v_{\varepsilon}\| (\varepsilon + |x|^2)^{\frac{N-2}{2}}}\right) dx \\ &\geq \int_{|x| \leq R} \tilde{F}\left(\frac{t_0}{\|v_{\varepsilon}\| (\varepsilon + |x|^2)^{\frac{N-2}{2}}}\right) dx = c_1 \varepsilon^{\frac{N}{2}} \int_0^{R\varepsilon^{-\frac{1}{2}}} \tilde{F}\left(\frac{t_0}{\|v_{\varepsilon}\|} \left(\frac{\varepsilon^{-1}}{1 + s^2}\right)^{\frac{N-2}{2}}\right) s^{N-1} ds \end{split}$$

Notice that

$$\tilde{F}\left(\frac{t_0}{\|v_{\varepsilon}\|}\left(\frac{\varepsilon^{-1}}{1+s^2}\right)^{\frac{N-2}{2}}\right) \geq \beta \text{ if } s \text{ is such that } \frac{t_0}{\|v_{\varepsilon}\|}\left(\frac{\varepsilon^{-1}}{1+s^2}\right)^{\frac{N-2}{2}} \geq \alpha. \tag{8}$$

The second inequality of (8) is equivalent to

$$\frac{t_0\varepsilon^{\frac{2-N}{4}}}{(c+\varepsilon^{\frac{N-2}{4}}k(\varepsilon))(1+s^2)^{\frac{N-2}{2}}} \ge \alpha,$$



which is true if $s \le c_2 \varepsilon^{-\frac{1}{4}}$ for some constant c_2 and small ε . Therefore, by taking a smaller R if necessary, we deduce from (8) that

$$\int_{\Omega} F(x, t_0 u_{\varepsilon}) dx \ge c_3 \varepsilon^{\frac{N}{2}} \int_0^{R \varepsilon^{-\frac{1}{4}}} \beta s^{N-1} ds = c_3 \varepsilon^{\frac{N}{4}},$$

for some positive constant c_3 . Thus,

$$\psi_{\lambda,u_{\varepsilon}}(t_0) \leq \varepsilon^{\frac{N}{4}} \left[-\frac{1}{2^*} \frac{O(\varepsilon^{\frac{2^*N}{4}})}{\varepsilon^{\frac{N}{4}}} t_0^{2^*} - \lambda c_3 \right] < 0,$$

for small ε and hence $\lambda_0(u_{\varepsilon}) < \lambda$. Once λ was arbitrary we deduce that $\lambda_0^* = 0$. Now suppose that $u_k \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ satisfies $\lambda_k := \lambda_0(u_k) \to \lambda_0^* = 0$. As in i) we may assume that $||u_k|| = 1$ and $u_k \rightarrow u$. Moreover there exists $t_k > 0$ such that

$$\frac{a}{2} + \frac{b}{4}t_k^2 - \frac{1}{2^*} \|u_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*} t_k^{2^* - 2} - \lambda_k \int_{\Omega} \frac{F(x, t_k u_k)}{t_k^2} dx = 0 \quad \text{for each } k \in \mathbb{N}.$$

From (\mathcal{F}_3) and (\mathcal{F}_4) we conclude that $t_k \to t > 0$ and $||u_k||_{2^*}^{2^*} \to s > 0$ and hence

$$\frac{a}{2} + \frac{b}{4}t^2 - \frac{1}{2^*}st^{2^*-2} = 0.$$

From the assumption on a and b we conclude that $s = S_N^{\frac{-2^n}{2}}$ and hence u_k is a minimizing sequence to S_N . Moreover, if $u \neq 0$, then (the first inequality is a consequence of Lemma 2.1 and the fact that ||u|| < 1)

$$0 \leq \frac{a}{2} + \frac{b}{4}t^{2} - \frac{S_{N}^{\frac{-2^{*}}{2}}}{2^{*}} \|u\|^{2^{*}}t^{2^{*}-2} \leq \frac{a}{2} + \frac{b}{4}t^{2} - \frac{1}{2^{*}} \|u\|_{2^{*}}^{2^{*}}t^{2^{*}-2}$$

$$\leq \liminf_{k \to \infty} \left(\frac{a}{2} + \frac{b}{4}t_{k}^{2} - \frac{1}{2^{*}} \|u_{k}\|_{2^{*}}^{2^{*}}t_{k}^{2^{*}-2} - \lambda_{k} \int_{\Omega} \frac{F(x, t_{k}u_{k})}{t_{k}^{2}} dx\right)$$

$$= 0$$

and consequently u is a minimizer to S_N , which is an absurd, therefore u = 0.

Proposition 2.6 For each $\lambda \leq \lambda_0^*$ and each $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$, $\inf_{t>0} \psi_{\lambda,u}(t) = 0$; for each $\lambda > \lambda_0^*$ there exists $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ such that $\Phi_{\lambda}(u) < 0$.

Proof From Proposition 2.4, if $\lambda \leq \lambda_0^* \leq \lambda_0(u)$, $\inf_{t>0} \psi_{\lambda,u}(t) = 0$ for each $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$; while if $\lambda > \lambda_0^*$, there exists $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ such that $\inf_{t>0} \psi_{\lambda,u}(t) < 0$ which implies at once the claim.

3 Existence and non-existence results: general case

In this Section we study the existence of global/local minimizers and mountain pass type solutions to Φ_{λ} . At the end of the Section we show a non-existence result for small $\lambda > 0$. We note here that in the first three subsections, only hypotheses (\mathcal{F}_1) – (\mathcal{F}_4) are needed, while in the fourth subsection we need to add hypothesis (\mathcal{F}_5) .



22 Page 12 of 33 F. Faraci, K. Silva

3.1 Global minimizers for $\lambda \geq \lambda_0^*$

For each $\lambda > 0$ define

$$I_{\lambda} = \inf \{ \Phi_{\lambda}(u) : u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \}.$$

Theorem 3.1 Suppose that $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b \ge C_1(N)$ and $\lambda > \lambda_0^*$. Then, there exists $u_\lambda \in H_0^1(\Omega)\setminus\{0\}$ such that $I_\lambda = \Phi_\lambda(u_\lambda) < 0$.

Proof In fact, one can easily see by using (\mathcal{F}_3) , (\mathcal{F}_4) and the Sobolev embeddings that Φ_{λ} is coercive. From Lemma 2.2 Φ_{λ} is also sequentially weakly lower semi-continuous and therefore by direct minimization arguments, there exists $u_{\lambda} \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ such that $I_{\lambda} = \Phi_{\lambda}(u_{\lambda})$. Moreover, from Proposition 2.6 there exists $w \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ such that $\Phi_{\lambda}(w) < 0$, hence $I_{\lambda} < 0$ and $u_{\lambda} \neq 0$.

Theorem 3.2 Suppose that $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b \ge C_1(N)$ and $\lambda = \lambda_0^*$. The following holds true.

- (i) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_1(N)$, there exists $u_{\lambda_0^*} \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ such that $I_{\lambda_0^*} = \Phi_{\lambda_0^*}(u_{\lambda_0^*})$. Moreover, $I_{\lambda_0^*} = 0$.
- (ii) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b = C_1(N)$, u = 0 is the only minimizer for $I_{\lambda_n^*}$.

Proof (i) In fact, take a sequence $\lambda_k \downarrow \lambda_0^*$. From Theorem 3.1, for each k, we can find $u_k \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ such that $I_{\lambda_k} = \Phi_{\lambda_k}(u_k) < 0$. Since $\lambda_k \downarrow \lambda_0^*$ it follows (as in the proof of Theorem 3.1) that $\{u_k\}$ is bounded and therefore we may assume that $u_k \rightarrow u$ in $H_0^1(\Omega)$. From Lemma 2.2 we obtain

$$\Phi_{\lambda_0^*}(u) \leq \liminf_{k \to \infty} \Phi_{\lambda_k}(u_k) \leq 0.$$

Proposition 2.6 ensures that $\Phi_{\lambda_0^*}(w) \ge 0$ for each $w \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ and thus $\lim_{k \to \infty} \Phi_{\lambda_k}(u_k) = \Phi_{\lambda_0^*}(u) = 0$, or $I_{\lambda_0^*} = \Phi_{\lambda_0^*}(u) = 0$.

To conclude the proof, we have to show that $u \neq 0$. In fact

$$\begin{aligned} & \frac{a}{2} \|u_k\|^2 + \frac{b}{4} \|u_k\|^4 - \frac{S_N^{-\frac{2^*}{2}}}{2^*} \|u_k\|^{2^*} \\ & \leq \frac{a}{2} \|u_k\|^2 + \frac{b}{4} \|u_k\|^4 - \frac{1}{2^*} \|u_k\|^{2^*} \leq \lambda_k \int_{\Omega} F(x, u_k) dx. \end{aligned}$$

Thus,

$$g(\|u_k\|) = \frac{a}{2} + \frac{b}{4} \|u_k\|^2 - \frac{S_N^{-\frac{2^*}{2}}}{2^*} \|u_k\|^{2^* - 2} \le \lambda_k \int_{\Omega} \frac{F(x, u_k)}{\|u_k\|^2} dx.$$

If u = 0, from (\mathcal{F}_3) and (\mathcal{F}_4) , the right hand side in the above inequality would tend to zero against the fact that $g(\|u_k\|) \ge \min_{[0,+\infty[} g > 0$ (see Lemma 2.1).

(ii) From Proposition 2.5 we know that $\lambda_0^* = 0$ and hence

$$\Phi_{\lambda_0^*}(u) = \frac{a}{2} \|u\|^2 + \frac{b}{4} \|u\|^4 - \frac{1}{2^*} \|u\|_{2^*}^{2^*}.$$

The hypothesis $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b = C_1(N)$ implies that u = 0 is the only minimizer for this functional. Indeed, from Proposition 2.1 and Lemma 2.1 we have that

$$\Phi_{\lambda_0^*}(u) > g(\|u\|) \|u\|^2 \ge 0, \forall u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}.$$



Proposition 3.1 Suppose that $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_1(N)$. If $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ satisfies $I_{\lambda_0^*} = \Phi_{\lambda_0^*}(u)$, then $\lambda_0^* = \lambda_0(u)$.

Proof The equality $\lambda_0^* = \lambda_0(u)$ is a consequence of the definition of λ_0^* .

Theorem 3.3 If $a_k^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b_k \downarrow C_1(N)$, $a_k \to a > 0$ and $b_k \to b > 0$, then $\lambda_k := \lambda_0^* \to 0$. Moreover, if $u_k \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ satisfies $\lambda_k = \lambda_0(u_k)$, then $u_k \rightharpoonup 0$ and $\frac{\|u_k\|_2^2}{\|u_k\|_2^2} \rightarrow S_N$.

Proof For each $\varepsilon > 0$, define u_{ε} as in the proof of Proposition 2.5. Given any $\lambda > 0$ and fixed t > 0, note from (7) that

$$\begin{split} \psi_{\lambda,u_{\varepsilon}}(t) &= \frac{a_{k}}{2}t^{2} + \frac{b_{k}}{4}t^{4} - \frac{1}{2^{*}}\|u_{\varepsilon}\|_{2^{*}}^{2^{*}}t^{2^{*}} - \lambda \int_{\Omega} F(x,tu_{\varepsilon})dx \\ &= t^{2}g_{k}(t) - \frac{1}{2^{*}}O(\varepsilon^{\frac{2^{*}N}{4}})t^{2^{*}} - \lambda \int_{\Omega} F(x,tu_{\varepsilon})dx, \end{split}$$

where g_k is the analogous of g with a_k and b_k instead of a and b. By taking $t = t_{0,k}$ where $t_{0,k}$ is given in (2) (with a_k and b_k instead of a and b) we have that $t_{0,k} \to t_0 > 0$ (t_0 as in (2)) and

$$\lim_k \psi_{\lambda,u_\varepsilon}(t_{0,k}) = \varepsilon^{\frac{N}{4}} \left[-\frac{1}{2^*} \frac{O(\varepsilon^{\frac{2^*N}{4}})}{\varepsilon^{\frac{N}{4}}} t_0^{2^*} - \lambda \int_{\Omega} \frac{F(x,t_0u_\varepsilon)}{\varepsilon^{\frac{N}{4}}} dx \right],$$

Since

$$\int_{\Omega} F(x, t_0 u_{\varepsilon}) dx \ge c \varepsilon^{\frac{N}{4}},$$

for some positive constant c, we get that $\psi_{\lambda,u_{\varepsilon}}(t_{0,k})<0$ for small ε and big k. Then $\lambda_k \leq \lambda_0(u_{\varepsilon}) < \lambda$. Once λ was arbitrary we deduce that $\lambda_0^* = 0$.

Now suppose that $u_k \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ satisfies $\lambda_k := \lambda_0(u_k) \to \lambda_0^* = 0$. We may assume that $||u_k|| = 1$ and $u_k \rightarrow u$. Moreover there exists $t_k > 0$ such that

$$\frac{a_k}{2} + \frac{b_k}{4}t_k^2 - \frac{1}{2^*} \|u_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*}t_k^{2^*-2} - \lambda_k \int_{\Omega} \frac{F(x, t_k u_k)}{t_k^2} = 0.$$

From (\mathcal{F}_3) and (\mathcal{F}_4) we conclude that $t_k \to t > 0$ and $||u_k||_{2^*}^{2^*} \to s > 0$ and hence

$$\frac{a}{2} + \frac{b}{4}t^2 - \frac{1}{2^*}st^{2^*-2} = 0.$$

From the fact that $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b = C_1(N)$ we infer that $s = S_N^{\frac{-2^*}{2}}$ and hence $(u_k)_k$ is a minimizing sequence to S_N . Moreover, if $u \neq 0$, then (the first inequality is a consequence of Lemma 2.1 and the fact that ||u|| < 1)

$$0 \leq \frac{a}{2} + \frac{b}{4}t^{2} - \frac{S_{N}^{\frac{-2^{*}}{2}}}{2^{*}} \|u\|^{2^{*}} t^{2^{*}-2} \leq \frac{a}{2} + \frac{b}{4}t^{2} - \frac{1}{2^{*}} \|u\|_{2^{*}}^{2^{*}} t^{2^{*}-2}$$

$$\leq \liminf_{k \to \infty} \left(\frac{a_{k}}{2} + \frac{b_{k}}{4} t_{k}^{2} - \frac{1}{2^{*}} \|u_{k}\|_{2^{*}}^{2^{*}} t_{k}^{2^{*}-2} - \lambda_{k} \int_{\Omega} \frac{F(x, t_{k}u_{k})}{t_{k}^{2}} dx \right)$$

$$= 0.$$

and consequently u is a minimizer to S_N , which is an absurd, therefore u = 0.



22 Page 14 of 33 F. Faraci, K. Silva

3.2 Mountain pass type solution for $\lambda \geq \lambda_0^*$

Proposition 3.2 For each $\lambda > 0$, there exists $R_{\lambda} > 0$ such that

$$\inf\{\Phi_{\lambda}(u): ||u|| = R_{\lambda}\} > 0.$$

Proof Indeed, given $\varepsilon > 0$, from (\mathcal{F}_3) , (\mathcal{F}_4) and Sobolev embeddings, there exists a positive constant c such that

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{\lambda}(u) &\geq \frac{a}{2} \|u\|^{2} + \frac{b}{4} \|u\|^{4} - \frac{c}{2^{*}} \|u\|^{2^{*}} - \lambda c(\varepsilon \|u\|^{2} + \|u\|^{p}) \\ &= \left(\frac{a}{2} - \lambda c\varepsilon\right) \|u\|^{2} + \frac{b}{4} \|u\|^{4} - \frac{1}{2^{*}} \|u\|^{2^{*}} - \lambda c \|u\|^{p}, \forall u \in H_{0}^{1}(\Omega). \end{split}$$

By choosing $\varepsilon > 0$ conveniently the proof is complete.

For each $\lambda \geq \lambda_0^*$ define

$$\Gamma_{\lambda} = \{ \gamma \in C([0, 1], H_0^1(\Omega)) : \gamma(0) = 0, \ \gamma(1) = u_{\lambda_0^*} \},$$

where $u_{\lambda_0^*}$ is as in Theorem 3.2. and

$$c_{\lambda} = \inf_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{\lambda}} \max_{t \in [0,1]} \Phi_{\lambda}(\gamma(t)).$$

Theorem 3.4 There holds:

- (i) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_2(N)$, then for each $\lambda \geq \lambda_0^*$, there exist $w_{\lambda} \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ such that $\Phi_{\lambda}(w_{\lambda}) = c_{\lambda}$ and $\Phi_{\lambda}'(w_{\lambda}) = 0$.
- (ii) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b = C_2(N)$, then the above conclusion holds for λ sufficiently large.

Proof The proof is standard and we write only the main steps. Note that $\Phi_{\lambda}(0) = 0$ and $\Phi_{\lambda}(u_{\lambda_0^*}) \leq 0$. In fact, from Theorem 3.2 we know that $\Phi_{\lambda_0^*}(u_{\lambda_0^*}) = 0$ and if $\lambda > \lambda^*$, from Proposition 2.4 and Proposition 3.1, we must conclude that $\Phi_{\lambda}(u_{\lambda_0^*}) < 0$. These together with Proposition 3.2 implies a mountain pass geometry to Φ_{λ} .

- (i) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_2(N)$, from Lemma 2.2, Φ_{λ} satisfies the Palais-Smale condition at any level and the proof is complete.
 - (ii) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b = C_2(N)$, it is enough to prove that (see Lemma 2.2)

$$c_{\lambda} \neq \frac{(2^* - 2)^2 a^2}{4 \cdot 2^* (4 - 2^*) b}.$$

We will actually show that $c_{\lambda} \to 0$ as $\lambda \to \infty$. Indeed, given $\varepsilon > 0$, fix any $\lambda' > 0$. From (\mathcal{F}_1) and (\mathcal{F}_4) , there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $0 < \psi_{\lambda',u_{\lambda_0^*}}(t) \le \varepsilon$ for all $t \in (0,\delta]$. Since the function $(\lambda',\infty) \ni \lambda \mapsto \psi_{\lambda,u_{\lambda_0^*}}(\delta)$ is continuous, decreasing and tends to $-\infty$ as $\lambda \to \infty$ (see the proof of Proposition 2.3), it follows that there exists a unique parameter $\mu > \lambda'$ such that $\psi_{\mu,u_{\lambda_0^*}}(\delta) = 0$. Now observe that on compact sets $[t_0,t_1] \subset (0,\infty)$, we can always choose λ so large that $\psi_{\lambda,u_{\lambda_0^*}}(t) < 0$ for all $t \in [t_0,t_1]$. By taking δ even smaller if necessary, we can suppose that

$$c_{\lambda} \leq \max_{t \in [0,1]} \Phi_{\lambda}(tu_{\lambda_0^*}) = \max_{t \in [0,1]} \psi_{\mu,u_{\lambda_0^*}}(t) = \max_{t \in (0,\delta)} \psi_{\mu,u_{\lambda_0^*}}(t) = \psi_{\mu,u_{\lambda_0^*}}(t_{max}),$$



where $t_{max} \in (0, \delta)$. Since $\psi_{\mu, u_{\lambda_0^*}}(t_{max}) \leq \psi_{\lambda', u_{\lambda_0^*}}(t_{max}) \leq \varepsilon$, it follows that $c_{\lambda} \to 0$ as $\lambda \to \infty$. Choosing λ sufficiently large there holds

$$c_{\lambda} < \frac{(2^* - 2)^2 a^2}{4 \cdot 2^* (4 - 2^*) b},$$

and Lemma 2.2 applies.

3.3 Local minimizers and mountain pass type solutions for $\lambda < \lambda_0^*$

From Proposition 2.6, $I_{\lambda} = \inf_{H_0^1(\Omega)} \Phi_{\lambda} \geq 0$ for $\lambda \leq \lambda_0^*$, and consequently u = 0 is a global minimizer of Φ_{λ} . It is the unique global minimizer if $\lambda < \lambda_0^*$, while when $\lambda = \lambda_0^*$ (see Theorem 3.2) there exists a second global minimizer $u_{\lambda_0^*} \neq 0$. We will prove that for $\lambda < \lambda_0^*$, close to λ_0^* , Φ_{λ} has a local minimizer with positive energy.

First we prove a refined version of Proposition 3.2: fix $u_{\lambda_0^*} \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ such that $\lambda_0^* = \lambda_0(u_{\lambda_0^*})$ (see Theorem 3.2 and Proposition 3.1). Denote $R = \|u_{\lambda_0^*}\|$.

Proposition 3.3 Suppose that $\lambda \leq \lambda_0^*$, then there exists 0 < r < R and M > 0 such that

$$\inf \{ \Phi_{\lambda}(u) : u \in H_0^1(\Omega), \|u\| = r \} \ge M.$$

Proof Indeed, as in the proof of Proposition 3.2, given $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists a positive constant c, depending only on N and p, such that

$$\Phi_{\lambda}(u) \ge \left(\frac{a}{2} - \lambda c\varepsilon\right) \|u\|^2 + \frac{b}{4} \|u\|^4 - \frac{c}{2^*} \|u\|^{2^*} - \lambda c \|u\|^p, \ \forall u \in H_0^1(\Omega),$$

therefore

$$\Phi_{\lambda}(u) \ge \left(\frac{a}{2} - \lambda_0^* c\varepsilon\right) \|u\|^2 + \frac{b}{4} \|u\|^4 - \frac{c}{2^*} \|u\|^{2^*} - \lambda_0^* c \|u\|^p, \ \forall u \in H_0^1(\Omega).$$

If we choose ε in such a way that $\frac{a}{2} - \lambda_0^* c \varepsilon > 0$ the proof is complete.

Now consider the set

$$K = \{u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\} : \Phi_{\lambda_0^*}(u) = 0\}.$$

Note by Theorem 3.2 that $K \neq \emptyset$. In the next corollary we denote $B(0,r) = \{u \in H_0^1(\Omega) : u \in$ ||u|| < r}.

Corollary 3.1 Suppose that $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_1(N)$. There holds:

- (1) There exists r > 0 such that $K \cap B(0, r) = \emptyset$.
- (2) K is compact.

Proof The proof of (1) follows from Proposition 3.3. For the proof of (2), take $u_n \in K$. Since $\Phi_{\lambda_0^*}$ is coercive, we can suppose that u_n is bounded and, up to a subsequence, $u_n \rightharpoonup u$. Note that $0 \le \Phi_{\lambda_0^*}(u) \le \lim_n \Phi_{\lambda_0^*}(u_n) = 0$ and thus, from Lemma 2.2, 1), we conclude that $u_n \to u$ and from (1) it follows that $u \neq 0$, which implies that K is compact and the proof is complete.

Given $\delta > 0$ define

$$K_{\delta} = \{ u \in H_0^1(\Omega) : \operatorname{dist}(u, K) \le \delta \}.$$

For the next result, r is given as in Corollary 3.1.



22 Page 16 of 33 F. Faraci, K. Silva

Corollary 3.2 Suppose that $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_1(N)$, then

- (1) K_{δ} is sequentially weakly closed.
- (2) There exists $\delta > 0$ such that $K_{\delta} \cap B(0, r) = \emptyset$.

Proof (1) It is enough to prove that the distance function $H_0^1(\Omega) \ni u \mapsto \operatorname{dist}(u, K)$ is sequentially weakly lower semi-continuous. Suppose that $u_n \rightharpoonup u$ in $H_0^1(\Omega)$ and assume, on the contrary, that there exists c > 0 such that

$$\liminf_{n \to \infty} \operatorname{dist}(u_n, K) < c < \operatorname{dist}(u, K).$$
(9)

Since K is compact, for each n we can find $v_n \in K$ such that $\operatorname{dist}(u_n, K) = \|u_n - v_n\|$. Up to a subsequence, we can suppose that $v_n \to v \in K$. Also by (9), up to a subsequence, we can assume that for large n there holds $\operatorname{dist}(u_n, K) < c$, therefore from (9) and for large n, we conclude that

$$||u_{n} - v|| \leq ||u_{n} - v_{n}|| + ||v_{n} - v||$$

$$< c + ||v_{n} - v||$$

$$< \operatorname{dist}(u, K) + ||v_{n} - v||$$

$$\leq ||u - v|| + ||v_{n} - v||$$

$$\leq \liminf_{k \to \infty} ||u_{k} - v|| + ||v_{n} - v||,$$

which implies a contradiction and thus the proof is complete.

(2) is a consequence of Corollary 3.1.

For the next proposition we choose δ as in Corollary 3.2.

Proposition 3.4 Suppose that $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_1(N)$, then there exits $\overline{\varepsilon} > 0$ such that

$$\inf\{\Phi_{\lambda_0^*}(u): u \in \partial K_\delta\} > 2\overline{\varepsilon}.$$

Proof On the contrary, we can find a sequence $u_n \in \partial K_\delta$ such that $\Phi_{\lambda_0^*}(u_n) \to 0$ as $n \to \infty$. Since $\Phi_{\lambda_0^*}$ is coercive, we can assume that, up to a subsequence, $u_n \rightharpoonup u$ in $H_0^1(\Omega)$. Once $0 \le \Phi_{\lambda_0^*}(u) \le \lim_n \Phi_{\lambda_0^*}(u_n) = 0$, it follows from Lemma 2.2, 1) that $u_n \to u$ and thus $\Phi_{\lambda_0^*}(u) = 0$ with $u \in \partial K_\delta$. Since $u \notin K$, we have that u = 0, which contradicts item (2) of Corollary 3.2.

Proposition 3.5 Suppose that $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_1(N)$, then $\inf\{\Phi_{\lambda}(u) : u \in H_0^1(\Omega), u \in K\} \to 0$ as $\lambda \uparrow \lambda_0^*$.

Proof In fact, let $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ be such that $\lambda_0^* = \lambda_0(u)$ (see Theorem 3.2 and Proposition 3.1). Note that

$$0 \leq \inf\{\Phi_{\lambda}(u) : u \in H_0^1(\Omega), \ u \in K\} \leq \Phi_{\lambda}(u) \to 0, \ \text{as } \lambda \uparrow \lambda_0^*.$$

For each $\lambda \leq \lambda_0^*$ and $\delta > 0$, define

$$\hat{I}_{\lambda} = \inf \{ \Phi_{\lambda}(u) : u \in H_0^1(\Omega), \ u \in K_{\delta} \}.$$



Theorem 3.5 Assume that $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_1(N)$. There exists $\delta > 0$ and $\varepsilon > 0$ such that if $\lambda \in (\lambda_0^* - \varepsilon, \lambda_0^*)$, then the infimum \hat{I}_{λ} is achieved by some $u_{\lambda} \in K_{\delta}$ satisfying dist $(u_{\lambda}, K) < \delta$. Moreover u_{λ} is a local minimizer and a critical point to Φ_{λ} and $\hat{I}_{\lambda} > 0$.

Proof Indeed, choose $\delta > 0$ as in Proposition 3.4. By Proposition 3.5 we can find $\varepsilon > 0$ such that for all $\lambda \in (\lambda_0^* - \varepsilon, \lambda_0^*)$ there holds $\inf \{ \Phi_{\lambda}(u) : u \in H_0^1(\Omega), u \in K \} < \overline{\varepsilon},$ where $\bar{\varepsilon}$ is given by Proposition 3.4. Moreover, we can also assume by Proposition 3.4 that $\inf\{\Phi_{\lambda_0^*}(u): u \in \partial K_\delta\} > \overline{\varepsilon} \text{ for all } \lambda \in (\lambda_0^* - \varepsilon, \lambda_0^*).$

Now let u_n be a minimizing sequence to \hat{I}_{λ} . Once Φ_{λ} is coercive, we can suppose that $u_n \rightarrow u$ in $H_0^1(\Omega)$. By Corollary 3.2 we have that $u \in K_\delta$. Since $\Phi_{\lambda}(u) \leq$ $\lim \inf_{n\to\infty} \Phi_{\lambda}(u_n) = \hat{I}_{\lambda}$, it follows that $\Phi_{\lambda}(u) = \hat{I}_{\lambda}$. By the previous paragraph we conclude that $u_{\lambda} \notin \partial K_{\delta}$ and hence the proof is complete.

Now we show the existence of a mountain pass type solution: let $\varepsilon > 0$ be given as in Theorem 3.5 and for each $\lambda \in (\lambda_0^* - \varepsilon, \lambda_0^*)$, choose $u_{\lambda} \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ such that $\hat{I}_{\lambda} = \Phi_{\lambda}(u_{\lambda})$. Define

$$\Gamma_{\lambda} = \{ \gamma \in C([0, 1], H_0^1(\Omega)) : \gamma(0) = 0, \ \gamma(1) = u_{\lambda} \},$$

and

$$c_{\lambda} = \inf_{\gamma \in \Gamma_{\lambda}} \max_{t \in [0,1]} \Phi_{\lambda}(\gamma(t)).$$

Theorem 3.6 Assume that $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_2(N)$, then for each $\lambda \in (\lambda_0^* - \varepsilon, \lambda_0^*)$, there exists $w_{\lambda} \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ such that $\Phi_{\lambda}(w_{\lambda}) = c_{\lambda}$ and $\Phi'_{\lambda}(w_{\lambda}) = 0$.

Proof Note that $\min\{\Phi_{\lambda}(0), \Phi_{\lambda}(u_{\lambda})\} < M$, where M is given by Proposition 3.2. Therefore Φ_{λ} has a mountain pass geometry. From Lemma 2.2 we know that Φ_{λ} satisfies the Palais-Smale condition and thus the proof is complete.

Now we are in position to prove Theorems 1.1, 1.2, 1.3:

Proof of Theorem 1.1 It follows from Theorems 3.1, 3.2, 3.3 and the definition of λ_0^* .

Proof of Theorem 1.2 It follows from Theorem 3.5.

Proof of Theorem 1.3 It follows from Theorems 3.4 and 3.6.

3.4 Non-existence result

Suppose (\mathcal{F}_5) . Therefore the following system is well defined:

$$\begin{cases} \psi'_{\lambda,u}(t) = 0, \\ \psi''_{\lambda,u}(t) = 0, \\ \psi'_{\lambda,u}(t) = \inf_{s>0} \psi'_{\lambda,u}(s). \end{cases}$$
 (10)

The next Proposition can be proved in the same way as Proposition 2.3

Proposition 3.6 Assume that $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$, then there exists a unique $\lambda(u) > 0$ satisfying (10).



22 Page 18 of 33 F. Faraci, K. Silva

Proposition 3.7 For each $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)\setminus\{0\}$ one has: $\lambda(u)$ is the unique parameter $\lambda > 0$ for which the fiber map $\psi_{\lambda,u}$ has a critical point with second derivative zero and satisfies $\inf_{t>0} \psi'_{\lambda,u}(t) = 0$. Moreover, if $0 < \lambda < \lambda(u)$, then $\psi_{\lambda,u}$ has no critical points.

Proof If
$$0 < \lambda < \lambda(u)$$
, then $\psi'_{\lambda,u}(s) > \psi'_{\lambda(u),u}(s) \ge 0$ for each $t > 0$.

Corollary 3.3 For each $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ one has that $\lambda(u) < \lambda_0(u)$.

Proof Indeed, assume on the contrary that $\lambda_0(u) \leq \lambda(u)$, then from Proposition 3.7, the definition of $\lambda_0(u)$ and Proposition 2.2, we deduce that $\psi_{\lambda_0(u),u}$ is increasing, which contradicts the definition of $\lambda_0(u)$, therefore, $\lambda(u) < \lambda_0(u)$.

Define the extremal value (see [10])

$$\lambda^* = \inf_{u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}} \lambda(u).$$

Proposition 3.8 There holds:

- (i) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_2(N)$, then $0 < \lambda^* < \lambda_0^*$.
- (ii) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b = C_2(N)$, then $\lambda^* = 0$. Moreover if $u_k \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ satisfies $\lambda(u_k) \to \lambda^* = 0$, then $u_k \rightharpoonup 0$ and $\frac{\|u_k\|_2^2}{\|u_k\|_{2*}^2} \to S_N$.

Proof We only prove that $\lambda^* < \lambda_0^*$ (the rest of the proof is similar to the proof of Proposition 2.5). Indeed, from Theorem 3.2 and Proposition 3.1, there exists $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ such that $\lambda_0^* = \lambda_0(u)$, therefore from Corollary 3.3 we obtain $\lambda^* \le \lambda(u) < \lambda_0(u) = \lambda_0^*$.

Proposition 3.9 For each $\lambda < \lambda^*$, the fiber map $\psi_{\lambda,u}$ is increasing and has no critical points.

Proof This follows form the fact that $\lambda < \lambda^* \le \lambda(u)$ for every $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ and Proposition 3.7.

Theorem 3.7 If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_2(N)$ and $\lambda \in (0, \lambda^*)$, then (\mathcal{P}_{λ}) has no non-zero solution.

Proof In fact, from Proposition 3.9 we have that $\psi'_{\lambda,u}(t) > 0$ for all t > 0 and $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)\setminus\{0\}$, therefore Φ_{λ} has no critical points other than u = 0.

The next result provides the existence of $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ such that $\Phi'_{\lambda^*}(u)u = 0$.

Proposition 3.10 Suppose that $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_2(N)$. Then, there exists $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)\setminus\{0\}$ such that $\lambda^* = \lambda(u)$.

Proof Let λ_k be a sequence of positive numbers converging to λ^* . Thus, there exists $u_k \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ with $||u_k|| = 1$ (by the homogeneity of the map $u \to \lambda(u)$) such that $\lambda_k = \lambda(u_k)$. We deduce then, the existence of $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ such that $u_k \rightharpoonup u$. We claim that $u \neq 0$. By the definition of λ_k , there exists $t_k = t(u_k) > 0$ such that

$$\psi'_{\lambda_k,u_k}(t_k) = \Phi'_{\lambda_k}(t_k u_k)(u_k) = 0$$

that is

$$a + bt_k^2 - \|u_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*} t_k^{2^* - 2} - \lambda_k \int_{\Omega} \frac{f(x, t_k u_k) u_k}{t_k} dx = 0.$$



Thus, we obtain

$$0 < h(t_k) \le a + bt_k^2 - S_N^{-\frac{2^*}{2}} t_k^{2^* - 2} \le \lambda_k \int_{\Omega} \frac{f(x, t_k u_k) u_k}{t_k} dx.$$
 (11)

From the above inequality, (\mathcal{F}_3) and (\mathcal{F}_4) we deduce that $\{t_k\}$ is bounded in $(0, +\infty)$ and it admits a subsequence still denoted by $\{t_k\}$ converging to some $\bar{t} > 0$. Also, from (11) and Lemma 2.1 we deduce that $u \neq 0$. By Proposition 3.7, $\psi'_{\lambda^*,u}(t) > 0$ for every t > 0. But since $t_k u_k \rightarrow \bar{t}u$, by 3) Lemma 2.2 it follows

$$\psi_{\lambda^*,u}'(\bar{t}) = \Phi_{\lambda^*}'(\bar{t}u)(\bar{t}u) \le \liminf_k \Phi_{\lambda_k}'(t_k u_k)(t_k u_k) = \liminf_k \psi_{\lambda_k,u_k}'(t_k) = 0,$$

which leads to a contradiction.

As a consequence we have:

Proof of Theorem 1.4 It follows from Theorem 3.7, Proposition 3.7 and Proposition 3.10. □

4 A particular case: $f(x, u) = |u|^{p-2}u$

In this Section we consider the particular case where $f(x, u) = |u|^{p-2}u$, that is

$$\begin{cases} -\left(a+b\int_{\Omega}|\nabla u|^2dx\right)\Delta u = |u|^{2^*-2}u + \lambda|u|^{p-2}u, & \text{in } \Omega\\ u = 0, & \text{on } \partial\Omega \end{cases}$$
 (12)

and $p \in (2, 2^*)$. We will compare the results obtained here with the literature. In fact we will extend and complement some results of [13]. For some values of p in fact, we have a fairly complete picture. One can easily see that $f(x, u) = |u|^{p-2}u$ satisfies all hypothesis (\mathcal{F}_1) - (\mathcal{F}_5) and therefore, with respect to problem (12) we have, as a consequence of Theorems 1.1, 1.2, 1.3 and 1.4, the following:

Theorem 4.1 There exists a function $\lambda_0^* : (0, \infty)^2 \to [0, \infty)$ satisfying the following.

- (i) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_1(N)$, then $\lambda_0^*(a,b) > 0$ and:
 - (1) For each $\lambda > \lambda_0^*(a, b)$, problem (12) admits a positive solution, which is a global minimizer to Φ_{λ} with negative energy.
 - (2) If $\lambda = \lambda_0^*(a, b)$, then problem (12) admits a positive solution, which is a global minimizer to $\Phi_{\lambda_0^*(a,b)}$ with zero energy.
 - (3) For $\lambda \in (0, \lambda_0^*(a, b))$, then only global minimizer to Φ_{λ} is u = 0.
- (ii) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b = C_1(N)$, then $\lambda_0^*(a,b) = 0$ and for each $\lambda > 0$, problem (12) admits a positive solution, which is a global minimizer to Φ_{λ} with negative energy.
- (iii) Moreover

$$\lambda_0^*(a_k, b_k) \to 0$$
, if $a_k \to a > 0$, $b_k \to b > 0$, $a_k^{\frac{N-4}{2}} b_k \downarrow C_1(N)$.

(iv) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_1(N)$, then there exists $\varepsilon := \varepsilon(a,b) > 0$ such that: for each $\lambda \in (\lambda_0^*(a,b) - \varepsilon, \lambda_0^*(a,b))$, problem (12) admits a positive solution, which is a local minimizer to Φ_{λ} with positive energy.



22 Page 20 of 33 F. Faraci, K. Silva

Recall that $C_1(N) < C_2(N)$.

Theorem 4.2 There exists a function $\lambda^* : (0, \infty)^2 \to [0, \infty)$ satisfying the following.

- (i) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_2(N)$, then $0 < \lambda^*(a,b) < \lambda_0^*(a,b)$.
- (ii) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b = C_2(N)$, then $0 = \lambda^*(a, b) < \lambda_0^*(a, b)$.
- (iii) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_2(N)$, then there exists $\varepsilon := \varepsilon(a,b) > 0$ such that for each $\lambda > \lambda_0^*(a,b) \varepsilon$, problem (12) admits a positive mountain pass type solution with positive energy.
- (iv) If $a^{\frac{\tilde{N}-4}{2}}b = C_2(N)$, then there exists $\tilde{\lambda} > 0$ such that for each $\lambda > \tilde{\lambda}$, problem (12) admits a positive mountain pass type solution with positive energy.
- (v) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_2(N)$ and $\lambda \in (0, \lambda^*(a, b))$, then problem (12) has no non-zero solutions.

We note that items i) and ii) of Theorem 4.2 follow from Proposition 3.8. Combining Theorem 4.1 with [13, Proposition 4.2] we conclude that the curve $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b = C_1(N)$ is a threshold in the sense stated in Theorem 1.5:

Proof of Theorem 1.5 By inspection, one can easily see that the constant α_2 defined in [13] corresponds to our $C_2(N)$ with obvious modifications with respect to a>0. Since $C_1(N)< C_2(N)$ and for each a, b satisfying $0< a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b \leq C_1(N)$, there exists $u\in H_0^1(\Omega)\setminus\{0\}$ such that $\Phi_\lambda(u)<0$ for all $\lambda>0$, it follows that [13, Proposition 4.2] can be applied and then Φ_λ has a global minimizer with negative energy for all $\lambda>0$. The rest of the proof is a consequence of Theorem 4.1.

In order to get more results concerning our problem (\mathcal{P}_{λ}) , let us introduce and study the Nehari sets associated to Φ_{λ} : for each $a, b, \lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ let

$$\mathcal{N} := \mathcal{N}_{a,b,\lambda} = \{ u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\} : \Phi_{\lambda}'(u)u = 0 \} = \{ u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\} : \psi_{\lambda,\mu}'(1) = 0 \}.$$

We split the above set in three disjoint sets

$$\mathcal{N}^{0} := \mathcal{N}^{0}_{a,b,\lambda} = \{ u \in H^{1}_{0}(\Omega) \setminus \{0\} : \psi'_{\lambda,u}(1) = 0, \psi''_{\lambda,u}(1) = 0 \},$$

$$\mathcal{N}^{+} := \mathcal{N}^{+}_{a,b,\lambda} = \{ u \in H^{1}_{0}(\Omega) \setminus \{0\} : \psi'_{\lambda,u}(1) = 0, \psi''_{\lambda,u}(1) > 0 \},$$

$$\mathcal{N}^{-} := \mathcal{N}^{-}_{a,b,\lambda} = \{ u \in H^{1}_{0}(\Omega) \setminus \{0\} : \psi'_{\lambda,u}(1) = 0, \psi''_{\lambda,u}(1) < 0 \}.$$

By using the implicit function theorem and the Lagrange's multiplier rule we have that:

Proposition 4.1 Suppose that a, b > 0 and $\lambda \ge 0$. Then, whenever $\mathcal{N}^-, \mathcal{N}^+$ are not empty, they are C^1 manifolds of co-dimension 1 in $H^1_0(\Omega)$. Moreover, every critical point of Φ_{λ} restricted to $\mathcal{N}^- \cup \mathcal{N}^+$ is a critical point to Φ_{λ} . Moreover, if $u \in \mathcal{N}^+$ is a local minimizer of $\Phi_{\lambda|_{\mathcal{N}^+}}$, then it is a local minimizer of Φ_{λ} over $H^1_0(\Omega)$.

To understand the Nehari sets we prove:

Proposition 4.2 For each a, b > 0 and $\lambda \ge 0$ and $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$, only one of the next i) - iii) occurs.

- (i) The function $\psi_{\lambda,u}$ is increasing and has no critical points.
- (ii) The function $\psi_{\lambda,u}$ has only one critical point in $(0, +\infty)$ at the value $t_{\lambda}(u)$. Moreover, $\psi''_{\lambda,u}(t_{\lambda}(u)) = 0$ and $\psi_{\lambda,u}$ is increasing.
- (iii) The function $\psi_{\lambda,u}$ has only two critical points, $0 < t_{\lambda}^{-}(u) < t_{\lambda}^{+}(u)$. Moreover, $t_{\lambda}^{-}(u)$ is a local maximum and $t_{\lambda}^{+}(u)$ is a local minimum with $\psi_{\lambda,u}''(t_{\lambda}^{-}(u)) < 0 < \psi_{\lambda,u}''(t_{\lambda}^{+}(u))$.



Proof We have $\psi'_{\lambda,\mu}(t) = 0$ if and only if

$$a\|u\|^2 = -b\|u\|^4 t^2 + \|u\|_{2^*}^{2^*} t^{2^*-2} + \frac{\lambda}{p} \|u\|_p^p t^{p-2}.$$

Let $\varphi(t) = -b\|u\|^4 t^2 + \|u\|_{2^*}^{2^*} t^{2^*-2} + \frac{\lambda}{p} \|u\|_p^p t^{p-2}$ for each t > 0. Then, it is easy to see that there exists a unique maximum point t^* of φ such that $\varphi(t^*) > 0$. Thus, the following cases occur. If $a\|u\|^2 > \varphi(t^*)$, then, $\psi'_{\lambda,u}(t) > 0$ for every t > 0 and i) holds. If $a\|u\|^2 = \varphi(t^*)$, then, $\psi'_{\lambda,u}(t) > 0$ for every $t \neq t^*$ and $\psi''_{\lambda,u}(t^*) = a\|u\|^2 - \varphi(t^*) - t^*\varphi'(t^*) = 0$, so that ii) is verified. Finally, if $a\|u\|^2 < \varphi(t^*)$, then, there exist $t_1 < t^* < t_2$ such that $a\|u\|^2 = \varphi(t_1) = \varphi(t_2)$ and $a\|u\|^2 > \varphi(t)$ for $t < t_1$ and $t > t_2$, $a\|u\|^2 < \varphi(t)$ for $t < t_2$ so that (iii) is satisfied with $t_{\lambda}^-(u) = t_1$ and $t_{\lambda}^+(u) = t_2$.

4.1 A refined non-existence result

Recall from Theorem 3.7 that if $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_2(N)$ and $\lambda \in (0, \lambda^*)$, then (\mathcal{P}_{λ}) has no non-zero solution. This is clear, since for that range of parameters, the Nehari set is empty. We show how to improve the non-existence result. First we need some preliminaries results:

Corollary 4.1 Assume that $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_2(N)$, then for each $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)\setminus\{0\}$ satisfying $\lambda^* = \lambda(u)$ we have that

$$-(2a + 4b||u||^2)\Delta u - 2^*|u|^{2^*-2}u - \lambda^* p|u|^{p-2}u = 0.$$

Proof Define $J_{\lambda^*}: H^1_0(\Omega) \to \mathbb{R}$ by $J_{\lambda^*}(w) = \Phi'_{\lambda^*}(w)w$. From Lemma 2.2 item 3), J_{λ^*} attains its infimum. Moreover, by the definition of λ^* ,

$$\inf\{J_{\lambda^*}(w) : w \in H_0^1(\Omega)\} = J_{\lambda^*}(u).$$

(see also Proposition 3.1). We conclude that $J'_{\lambda^*}(u) = 0$, which is the desired equation. \Box

Theorem 4.3 If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_2(N)$ and Ω is star-shaped, then there exists $\varepsilon > 0$ such that (\mathcal{P}_{λ}) has no non-zero solution for each $\lambda \in (0, \lambda^* + \varepsilon)$.

Proof The case $\lambda \in (0, \lambda^*)$ is given by Theorem 3.7. Suppose on the contrary that $(\mathcal{P}_{\lambda^*})$ has a non-zero solution u. From Proposition 3.7 and the definition of λ^* , we have that $u \in \mathcal{N}_{\lambda^*}^0 = \mathcal{N}_{\lambda^*}$ (note from Proposition 3.10 that $\mathcal{N}_{\lambda^*}^0 \neq \emptyset$) and hence $\lambda^* = \lambda(u)$. From Corollary 4.1 we deduce that

$$\begin{cases} -(a+b\|u\|^2)\Delta u - |u|^{2^*-2}u - \lambda^*|u|^{p-2}u = 0, \\ -(2a+4b\|u\|^2)\Delta u - 2^*|u|^{2^*-2}u - \lambda^*p|u|^{p-2}u = 0, \end{cases}$$

which implies that

$$-[(2-p)a + (4-p)b||u||^2]\Delta u = (2^* - p)|u|^{2^* - 2}u,$$

which leads, from Pohozaev identity, to u = 0, a contradiction. Now suppose that there exists a sequence $\lambda_k \downarrow \lambda^*$ and a corresponding sequence of non-zero solutions u_k of $(\mathcal{P}_{\lambda_k})$. Then

$$a + b\|u_k\|^2 - \|v_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*} \|u_k\|^{2^*-2} - \lambda_k \|v_k\|_p^p \|u_k\|^{p-2} = 0,$$



22 Page 22 of 33 F. Faraci, K. Silva

where $v_k = u_k/\|u_k\|$. Therefore $(u_k)_k$ is bounded and does not converge to 0. From Lemma 2.2 item 2), we conclude that $u_k \to u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ and

$$-(a+b||u||^2)\Delta u - |u|^{2^*-2}u - \lambda^*|u|^{p-2}u = 0,$$

that is u is a non zero solution of $(\mathcal{P}_{\lambda^*})$, a contradiction.

4.2 Existence of the second solution when $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b < C_2(N)$

For each $a, b, \lambda > 0$, define (whenever $\mathcal{N}^0, \mathcal{N}^-$ are not empty)

$$c^{0} := c^{0}(a, b, \lambda) = \inf\{\Phi_{\lambda}(u) : u \in \mathcal{N}^{0}\},\$$

 $c^{-} := c^{-}(a, b, \lambda) = \inf\{\Phi_{\lambda}(u) : u \in \mathcal{N}^{-}\}.$

and

$$\sigma := \inf \{ \liminf_{n \to \infty} \Phi_{\lambda}(u_k) : u_k \in \mathcal{M} \},$$

where

$$\mathcal{M} = \{ u_k \in \mathcal{N} : \lim_{n \to \infty} \psi_{u_k}^{"}(1) = 0 \}.$$

With a simple modification of [13, Lemma 3.4] we can prove:

Lemma 4.1 There holds

$$\frac{(p-2)^2a^2}{4p(4-p)b} \le \sigma \le c^0.$$

Now we prove a result which complements [13, Theorem 1.1].

Theorem 4.4 Assume $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b < C_2(N)$. Then, there exists $p_0(a,b) \in (2,2^*)$ such that if $p \in (p_0(a,b),2^*)$, for all $\lambda > 0$, there exists $v_{\lambda} \in \mathcal{N}^-$ for which $c^-(a,b,\lambda) = \Phi_{\lambda}(v_{\lambda})$.

Proof From Proposition B.2 in the Appendix we know that

$$c^{-}(a,b,0) < \frac{(2^*-2)^2 a^2}{4 \cdot 2^* (4-2^*) b}.$$
 (13)

Note that the function $[2, 2^*) \ni p \mapsto \frac{(p-2)^2 a^2}{4p(4-p)b}$ is increasing and is zero for p=2, therefore from (13), there exists a unique $p_0 := p_0(a, b) \in (2, 2^*)$ such that

$$c^{-}(a, b, 0) = \frac{(p_0 - 2)^2 a^2}{4p_0(4 - p_0)b}.$$

As a consequence

$$c^{-}(a, b, 0) < \frac{(p-2)^2 a^2}{4p(4-p)b},$$

for all $p \in (p_0(a, b), 2^*)$. From Proposition A.1 and Corollary B.1 in the Appendix and Lemma 4.1 we deduce that

$$c^{-}(a, b, \lambda) \le c^{-}(a, b, 0) < \frac{(p-2)^{2}a^{2}}{4p(4-p)b} \le \sigma, \ \forall \lambda > 0$$

and from [13, Corollary 3.3 and Proposition 4.1], the proof is complete.



Remark 4.1 Note that:

(i) Our method to prove Theorem 4.4 also proves [13, Theorem 1.1]. Indeed, fix $p \in (2, 2^*)$. By one hand we know from Proposition A.1 in the Appendix that $c^-(a, b, 0)$ is non-decreasing in b. On the other hand

$$\lim_{b\downarrow 0} \frac{(p-2)^2 a^2}{4p(4-p)b} = \infty,$$

therefore by choosing b sufficiently small we conclude that

$$c^{-}(a, b, \lambda) \le c^{-}(a, b, 0) < \frac{(p-2)^2 a^2}{4p(4-p)b}, \ \forall \lambda > 0.$$

which is [13, Corollary 3.3] and consequently implies [13, Theorem 1.1].

(ii) Observe that the method employed in [13, Corollary 3.3], which was used to prove [13, Theorem 1.1], does not work for all values of p and a, b > 0 with $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b < C_2(N)$. Indeed, fix a, b > 0 with $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b < C_2(N)$. Choose $p \in (2, 2^*)$ such that

$$\frac{(p-2)^2a^2}{4p(4-p)b} < c^-(a,b,0).$$

Therefore from Proposition A.2 in Appendix we deduce that for small λ ,

$$\frac{(p-2)^2 a^2}{4p(4-p)b} < c^-(a,b,\lambda),$$

which contradicts the inequality in [13, Proposition 3.1] that was used to prove [13, Corollary 3.3].

Proof of Theorem 1.6 From Theorem 4.4, there exists $v_{\lambda} \in \mathcal{N}^{-}$ such that $\Phi_{\lambda}(v_{\lambda}) = c^{-}(a, b, \lambda)$. From Proposition 4.1 the proof is complete.

However, without any restriction on p or a, b, we can prove the following:

Theorem 4.5 For each a, b > 0 there exists $\tilde{\lambda} := \tilde{\lambda}(a, b, p) > 0$ such that for all $\lambda > \tilde{\lambda}$, there exists $v_{\lambda} \in \mathcal{N}^-$ satisfying $c^-(a, b, \lambda) = \Phi_{\lambda}(v_{\lambda})$.

Proof We claim that $c^-(a,b,\lambda) \to 0$ as $\lambda \to \infty$. To prove it, fix $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$. Given $\varepsilon > 0$, fix any $\lambda' > 0$. Then there exists $\delta > 0$ such that $0 < \psi_{\lambda',u}(t) \le \varepsilon$ for all $t \in (0,\delta]$. Since the function $(\lambda',\infty) \ni \lambda \mapsto \psi_{\lambda,u}(\delta)$ is continuous, decreasing and tends to $-\infty$ as $\lambda \to \infty$, it follows that there exists a unique parameter $\mu > \lambda'$ such that $\psi_{\mu,u}(\delta) = 0$. Therefore $0 < t_\mu^- < \delta$ and $\psi_{\mu,u}(t_\mu^-) \le \psi_{\lambda',u}(t_\mu^-) \le \varepsilon$. By the arbitrariness of ε , the claim is proved.

Now choose $\tilde{\lambda}$ such that

$$c^{-}(a,b,\tilde{\lambda}) < \frac{(p-2)^2 a}{4p(4-p)b},$$

then from Proposition A.1 in the Appendix we deduce that

$$c^{-}(a,b,\lambda) < \frac{(p-2)^2 a}{4p(4-p)b}, \ \forall \lambda > \tilde{\lambda}. \tag{14}$$



22 Page 24 of 33 F. Faraci, K. Silva

Now we divide the proof in two cases: if $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b < C_2(N)$, then we can apply [13, Corollary 3.3 and Proposition 4.1] and the proof is complete. Now assume that $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b \geq C_2(N)$. Let $(u_k)_k \in \mathcal{N}^-$ be a minimizing sequence to $c^-(a,b,\lambda)$. Since

$$a\|u_k\|^2 + b\|u_k\|^4 - \|u_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*} - \lambda \|u_k\|_p^p = 0, \forall k,$$
(15)

we deduce that there exist positive constants d_1, d_2 such that $d_1 \le ||u_k|| \le d_2$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Without loss of generality we can assume that $u_k \rightharpoonup u$ in $H_0^1(\Omega)$ and $||u_k|| \to t > 0$. We claim that $u \ne 0$. Indeed, from (15) and the Sobolev embedding we also have that

$$h(\|u_k\|) = a + b\|u_k\|^2 - S_N^{-\frac{2^*}{2}} \|u_k\|^{2^*-2} < C\lambda \|u_k\|^{p-2},$$

where C is some positive constant. Then, if u = 0, we would reach the contradiction $0 < h(t) \le 0$ (see Proposition 2.1 and Lemma 2.1). From Lemma 2.2 we have that

$$\psi_{\lambda,u}'(1) = a\|u\|^2 + b\|u\|^4 - \|u\|_{2^*}^{2^*} - \lambda \|u\|_p^p$$

$$\leq \liminf_{k \to \infty} (a\|u_k\|^2 + b\|u_k\|^4 - \|u_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*} - \lambda \|u_k\|_p^p) = 0,$$

which implies that the fiber map $\psi_{\lambda,u}$ satisfies (ii) or (iii) of Proposition 4.2. We claim that it satisfies (iii). Indeed, if it satisfies (ii), then $u \in \mathcal{N}^0$ and from Lemma 2.2 and (14) we obtain that

$$\Phi_{\lambda}(u) \le \liminf_{k \to \infty} \Phi_{\lambda}(u_k) = c^{-}(a, b, \lambda) < \frac{(p-2)^2 a}{4p(4-p)b},$$

which contradicts Lemma 4.1. Therefore $\psi_{\lambda,u}$ satisfies iii) and there exists $t_{\lambda}^{-}(u) \leq 1$ such that $t_{\lambda}^{-}(u)u \in \mathcal{N}^{-}$. From Lemma 2.2

$$\Phi_{\lambda}(t_{\lambda}^{-}(u)u) \leq \liminf_{k \to \infty} \Phi_{\lambda}(t_{\lambda}^{-}(u)u_{k}) \leq \liminf_{k \to \infty} \Phi_{\lambda}(u_{k}) = c^{-}(a, b, \lambda),$$

and the proof is complete.

Remark 4.2 Note that

- (i) Theorem 4.5 complements the results of [13], globally in a, b and locally in λ .
- (ii) Recall from Theorems 3.4 and 3.6 that if $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b > C_2(N)$ and $\lambda > \lambda_0^* \varepsilon$, then Φ_{λ} has a mountain pass type solution. One may ask if the solutions found in Theorem 4.5 and in those theorems are the same? Or at least, is it true that $c^-(a, b, \lambda) = c_{\lambda}$?

Proof of Theorem 1.7 From Theorem 4.5, there exists $v_{\lambda} \in \mathcal{N}^{-}$ such that $\Phi_{\lambda}(v_{\lambda}) = c^{-}(a, b, \lambda)$. From Proposition 4.1 the proof is complete.

4.3 Brezis-Nirenberg problem: the limit case $b \rightarrow 0$

In this Section we show how to recover a well known result from Brezis and Nirenberg [2] as a byproduct of our study. To emphasize the more important role of the parameter b, we use the notation $\psi_{b,\lambda,u} = \psi_{\lambda,u}$, $t_{b,\lambda}^-(u) = t_{\lambda}^-(u)$, $\Phi_{b,\lambda} = \Phi_{\lambda}$ and so on.

Lemma 4.2 Fix a > 0, then

$$c^{-}(a, 0, 0) = \frac{a^{\frac{N}{2}}}{N} S_N^{\frac{N}{2}}.$$



Proof Indeed, first observe that

$$\Phi_{0,0}(u) = \frac{1}{N} a \|u\|^2, \ \forall u \in \mathcal{N}_{0,0}^-,$$

which implies from the definition of S_N that

$$\Phi_{0,0}(u) \ge \frac{a^{\frac{N}{2}}}{N} S_N^{\frac{N}{2}}, \ \forall u \in \mathcal{N}_{0,0}^-.$$

Now suppose that $(u_k)_k$ is a minimizing sequence to S_N satisfying $||u_k||_{2^*} = 1$ for all $k \in \mathbb{N}$. From Lemma A.1 and Remark A.1 in Appendix, for each k, there exists $t_k := t_{0,0}(u_k)$ such that $t_k u_k \in \mathcal{N}_{0,0}^-$. From

$$at_k^2 ||u_k||^2 - t_k^{2^*} ||u_k||_{2^*}^{2^*} = 0,$$

we have that

$$t_k \to (aS_N)^{\frac{1}{2^*-2}}, \ k \to \infty.$$

Therefore

$$\Phi_{0,0}(t_k u_k) = \frac{1}{N} a t_k^2 ||u_k||^2 \to \frac{1}{N} a (a S_N)^{\frac{2}{2^* - 2}} S_N = \frac{a^{\frac{N}{2}}}{N} S_N^{\frac{N}{2}},$$

and the proof is complete.

Proposition 4.3 Fix a > 0, then for each $\lambda > 0$ we have that

$$c^{-}(a, 0, \lambda) < c^{-}(a, 0, 0) = \frac{a^{\frac{N}{2}}}{N} S_N^{\frac{N}{2}}.$$

Proof For each $\varepsilon > 0$, choose $u_{\varepsilon} \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ such that (see [2])

$$\int_{\Omega} |\nabla u_{\varepsilon}|^2 = 1, \quad \int_{\Omega} |u_{\varepsilon}|^{2^*} = S_N^{\frac{-2^*}{2}} + O(\varepsilon^{\frac{2^*N}{4}}), \quad \int_{\Omega} |u_{\varepsilon}|^p = \frac{\varepsilon^{\frac{2p - N(p - 2)}{4}}}{(c + O(1)\varepsilon^{\frac{N - 2}{2}})^{\frac{p}{2}}},$$

where c is a positive constant independent on ε . From Lemma A.1 and Remark A.1 in Appendix, for each $\varepsilon > 0$, there exists $t_{\varepsilon,\lambda} := t_{0,\lambda}^-(u_\varepsilon)$ such that $t_{\varepsilon,\lambda}u_\varepsilon \in \mathcal{N}^-$. Denote $f_\varepsilon(\lambda) = \psi_{0,\lambda}(t_{\varepsilon,\lambda}u_\varepsilon) = \Phi_{0,\lambda}(t_{\varepsilon,\lambda}u_\varepsilon)$. From Lemma A.2 (and its proof) we know that

$$f_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) - f_{\varepsilon}(0) = f'_{\varepsilon}(\theta)\lambda = -\frac{t^p_{\varepsilon,\theta}}{p}\lambda \|u_{\varepsilon}\|_p^p,$$

and hence

$$f_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) = f_{\varepsilon}(0) - \frac{t_{\varepsilon,\theta}^{p}}{p} \lambda \|u_{\varepsilon}\|_{p}^{p}, \ \forall \varepsilon, \tag{16}$$

where $\theta := \theta_{\varepsilon} \in (0, \lambda)$. Now some calculations are in order: note from

$$at_{\varepsilon\theta}^2 = t_{\varepsilon\theta}^{2*} \|u_{\varepsilon}\|_{2*}^{2*} + \lambda t_{\varepsilon\theta}^p \|u_{\varepsilon}\|_p^p, \ \forall \varepsilon,$$

that there exists a positive constant c_1 such that

$$t_{\varepsilon \theta} > c_1, \ \forall \varepsilon.$$
 (17)



22 Page 26 of 33 F. Faraci, K. Silva

Moreover, since

$$at_{\varepsilon,0}^2 - t_{\varepsilon,0}^{2^*} \|u_{\varepsilon}\|_{2^*}^{2^*} = 0, \ \forall \varepsilon,$$

we conclude that

$$t_{\varepsilon,0} = \left(\frac{a}{S_N^{\frac{-2^*}{2}} + O(\varepsilon^{\frac{2^*N}{4}})}\right)^{\frac{1}{2^*-2}} = \left(\frac{a}{S_N^{\frac{-2^*}{2}}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2^*-2}} + O(\varepsilon^{\frac{2^*N}{4(2^*-2)}}), \ \forall \varepsilon$$

and hence

$$f_{\varepsilon}(0) = \frac{a}{2} t_{\varepsilon,0}^{2} - \frac{t_{\varepsilon,0}^{2^{*}}}{2^{*}} \|u_{\varepsilon}\|_{2^{*}}^{2^{*}}$$

$$= \frac{a}{2} \left[\left(\frac{a}{S_{N}^{\frac{-2^{*}}{2}}} \right)^{\frac{2}{2^{*}-2}} + O(\varepsilon^{\frac{2^{*}N}{2(2^{*}-2)}}) \right]$$

$$-\frac{1}{2^{*}} \left[\left(\frac{a}{S_{N}^{\frac{-2^{*}}{2}}} \right)^{\frac{2^{*}}{2^{*}-2}} + O(\varepsilon^{\frac{2^{*}2^{*}N}{4(2^{*}-2)}}) \right] \left(S_{N}^{\frac{-2^{*}}{2}} + O(\varepsilon^{\frac{2^{*}N}{4}}) \right),$$

$$= \frac{a^{\frac{N}{2}}}{N} S_{N}^{\frac{N}{2}} + O(\varepsilon^{\frac{2^{*}N}{4}}). \tag{18}$$

We combine (16) and (18) to obtain that

$$\begin{split} f_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) &= \frac{a^{\frac{N}{2}}}{N} S_{N}^{\frac{N}{2}} + O(\varepsilon^{\frac{2^{*}N}{4}}) - \frac{t_{\varepsilon,\theta}^{p}}{p} \lambda \frac{\varepsilon^{\frac{2p-N(p-2)}{4}}}{(c + O(1)\varepsilon^{\frac{N-2}{2}})^{\frac{p}{2}}}, \\ &= \frac{a^{\frac{N}{2}}}{N} S_{N}^{\frac{N}{2}} + \varepsilon^{\frac{2p-N(p-2)}{4}} \left[\frac{O(\varepsilon^{\frac{2^{*}N}{4}})}{\varepsilon^{\frac{2p-N(p-2)}{4}}} - \frac{t_{\varepsilon,\theta}^{p}}{p} \lambda \frac{1}{(c + O(1)\varepsilon^{\frac{N-2}{2}})^{\frac{p}{2}}} \right]. \end{split}$$

Since

$$\frac{2^*N}{4} > 1 > \frac{2p - N(p-2)}{4},$$

we conclude from (17) that for sufficiently small ε , we must have that $f_{\varepsilon}(\lambda) < \frac{a^{\frac{N}{2}}}{N} S_N^{\frac{N}{2}}$ which concludes the proof.

Remark 4.3 Fix a > 0 and $\lambda > 0$:

- (i) By using a continuity argument, one can easily see that the Nehari manifold $\mathcal{N}_{b,\lambda}^-$ is not empty for b on a neighborhood of 0.
- (ii) However, it is possible to adapt the calculations made in Theorem 3.7, to prove the existence of $b^* > 0$ such that if $b \in [0, b^*)$, then $\mathcal{N}_{b,\lambda}^- \neq \emptyset$, while if $b > b^*$, then $\mathcal{N}_{b,\lambda} = \emptyset$ (see "Appendix B").

As a corollary of Theorem 4.5 we obtain the following result à la Brezis Nirenberg [2]:

Theorem 4.6 Let a = 1 and $b_k \downarrow 0$. Then, there exists a sequence $(v_k)_k$ of solutions of (\mathcal{P}_{λ}) such that $v_k \to v$ where v is a nontrivial solution of



$$(\mathcal{Q}_{\lambda}) \quad \begin{cases} -\Delta u = |u|^{2^*-2}u + \lambda |u|^{p-2}u, & \text{in } \Omega \\ u = 0, & \text{on } \partial \Omega. \end{cases}$$

Proof Fix $\lambda > 0$. From Remark 4.3 we can assume that $c^-(1, b_k, \lambda)$ is well defined for all k. Let also $\varepsilon > 0$ such that $c^-(1, 0, \lambda) + \varepsilon < \frac{1}{N} S_N^{\frac{N}{2}}$ (see Proposition 4.3). Thus, by Proposition A.2 in Appendix, for k big enough, one has

$$c^{-}(1, b_k, \lambda) < c^{-}(1, 0, \lambda) + \varepsilon < \frac{1}{N} S_N^{\frac{N}{2}}.$$

We claim that $(v_k)_k$ is bounded in $H_0^1(\Omega)$. Indeed, we know that

$$0 = \Phi'_{b_k,\lambda}(v_k)(v_k) = \|v_k\|^2 + b_k\|v_k\|^4 - \|v_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*} - \lambda \|v_k\|_p^p$$
(19)

$$c^{-}(1, b_k, \lambda) = \Phi_{b_k, \lambda}(v_k) = \frac{1}{2} \|v_k\|^2 + \frac{b_k}{4} \|v_k\|^4 - \frac{1}{2^*} \|v_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*} - \frac{\lambda}{p} \|v_k\|_p^p.$$
 (20)

Denote $t_k = t_{0,\lambda}^-(v_k)$ and note from Lemma A.2 in the Appendix that $0 < t_k \le 1$ for all k. This property combined with Proposition A.2 implies that

$$0 \leq \lim_{k \to \infty} \Phi_{0,\lambda}(t_k v_k) - c^-(1,0,\lambda),$$

$$\leq \lim_{k \to \infty} \Phi_{b_k,\lambda}(t_k v_k) - c^-(1,0,\lambda),$$

$$\leq \lim_{k \to \infty} \Phi_{b_k,\lambda}(v_k) - c^-(1,0,\lambda),$$

$$= \lim_{k \to \infty} \left(\Phi_{b_k,\lambda}(v_k) - c^-(1,b_k,\lambda)\right) = 0,$$

and hence $(t_k v_k)_k$ is a minimizing sequence to $c^-(1,0,\lambda)$. We claim that $(t_k)_k$ is bounded away from 0. Suppose on the contrary that $t_k \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$. Since $t_k v_k \in \mathcal{N}_{0,\lambda}^-$ we know that

$$2t_k^2 \|v_k\|^2 - 2^* t_k^{2^*} \|v_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*} - p\lambda t_k^p \|v_k\|_p^p < 0, \quad \forall k.$$

Thus

$$2\frac{\|v_k\|^2}{\|v_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*}} - 2^*t_k^{2^*-2} < p\lambda t_k^{p-2} \frac{\|v_k\|_p^p}{\|v_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*}}, \ \ \, \forall k,$$

and hence

$$\frac{\|v_k\|^2}{\|v_k\|_{2*}^{2*}} = o(1). (21)$$

From

$$\|v_k\|^2 + b_k \|v_k\|^4 - \|v_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*} - \lambda \|v_k\|_p^p = 0, \quad \forall k,$$

and (21) we deduce that

$$\frac{b_k \|v_k\|^4}{\|v_k\|_{2_*}^2} = 1 + \lambda \frac{\|v_k\|_p^p}{\|v_k\|_{2_*}^{2^*}} + o(1), \quad \forall k.$$
 (22)

Since

$$\Phi_{b_k,\lambda}(v_k) = \|v_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*} \left(\frac{1}{2} \frac{\|v_k\|^2}{\|v_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*}} + \frac{1}{4} \frac{b_k \|v_k\|^4}{\|v_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*}} - \frac{1}{2^*} - \frac{\lambda}{p} \frac{\|v_k\|_p^p}{\|v_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*}} \right), \quad \forall k,$$



22 Page 28 of 33 F. Faraci, K. Silva

it follows from (22) that

$$\Phi_{b_k,\lambda}(v_k) = \|v_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*} \left[\frac{1}{4} \left(1 + \lambda \frac{\|v_k\|_p^p}{\|v_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*}} \right) - \frac{1}{2^*} - \frac{\lambda}{p} \frac{\|v_k\|_p^p}{\|v_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*}} + o(1) \right] \\
= \|v_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*} \left[\frac{2^* - 4}{2^*4} + \left(\frac{p - 4}{2^*4} \right) \lambda \frac{\|v_k\|_p^p}{\|v_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*}} + o(1) \right],$$

which is a contradiction since $\Phi_{b_k,\lambda}(v_k) = c^-(1,b_k,\lambda) > 0$ for all k and therefore t_k is bounded away from 0. Once $(t_k v_k)_k$ is a minimizing sequence to $c^-(1,0,\lambda)$, it has to be bounded, that is, there exists d > 0 such that

$$t_k^2 \int |\nabla v_k|^2 \le d, \quad \forall k,$$

and as a consequence $(v_k)_k$ is bounded in $H_0^1(\Omega)$.

Eventually passing to a subsequence, there exists $v \in H_0^1(\Omega)$ such that $v_k \rightharpoonup v$ weakly in $H_0^1(\Omega)$, $v_k \to v$ strongly in $L^q(\Omega)$ for $q < 2^*$, $|v_k|^{2^*-2}v_k \rightharpoonup |v|^{2^*-2}v$ weakly in $(L^{2^*})'$. Thus, since v_k is a critical point of $\Phi_{k,\lambda}$, for every $\varphi \in H_0^1(\Omega)$,

$$(1+b_k\|v_k\|^2)\int_{\Omega}\nabla v_k\nabla\varphi-\int_{\Omega}|v_k|^{2^*-2}v_k\varphi-\lambda\int_{\Omega}|v_k|^{p-2}v_k\varphi=0,$$

passing to the limit as $k \to \infty$ we deduce that

$$\int_{\Omega} \nabla v \nabla \varphi - \int_{\Omega} |v|^{2^*-2} v \varphi - \lambda \int_{\Omega} |v|^{p-2} v \varphi = 0,$$

which implies that v is a solution of (Q_{λ}) . Let us show that $v \neq 0$. Assume by contradiction that v = 0. By (19), dividing by $||v_k||^2$ we get

$$1 + b_k \|v_k\|^2 - S_N^{-\frac{2}{2^*}} \|v_k\|^{2^*-2} \le 1 + b_k \|v_k\|^2 - \|v_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*-2} = \lambda \|v_k\|_p^{p-2} \le c_1 \lambda \|v_k\|^{p-2}$$

and $(\|v_k\|)_k$ is bounded away from zero. Passing to a subsequence we can assume that $\|v_k\| \to l > 0$. From (19) and (20) (recall that $0 = v = \lim_k v_k$ in L^p), we obtain that

$$l^2 = \lim_{k} \|v_k\|_{2^*}^{2^*}$$

and

$$\lim_{k} c^{-}(1, b_{k}, \lambda) = \frac{1}{2} l^{2} - \frac{1}{2^{*}} \lim_{k} \|v_{k}\|_{2^{*}}^{2^{*}} = \frac{1}{N} l^{2}.$$

Since $||v_k||^2 \ge S_N ||v_k||_{2^*}^2$ we obtain that $l^2 \ge S_N^{\frac{N}{2}}$ which implies

$$\lim_{k} c^{-}(1, b_k, \lambda) \ge \frac{1}{N} S_N^{\frac{N}{2}},$$

against the initial assumptions. Thus, $v \neq 0$. Let us prove now that $v_k \to v$ in $H_0^1(\Omega)$ and $\Phi_{0,\lambda}(v) = c^-(1,0,\lambda)$. Indeed, since $v_k \in \mathcal{N}_{h_k,\lambda}^-$ for all k, we have that

$$\Phi_{b_k,\lambda}(v_k) = \frac{2^* - 2}{22^*} \|v_k\|^2 + \frac{2^* - 4}{42^*} b_k \|v_k\|^4 - \frac{2^* - p}{2^* p} \|v_k\|_p^p, \ \forall k.$$



Since v solves (Q_{λ}) we conclude from Remark A.1 in the Appendix that $v \in \mathcal{N}_{0,\lambda}^-$ and hence

$$c^-(1,0,\lambda) \leq \Phi_{0,\lambda}(v) = \frac{2^*-2}{22^*} \|v\|^2 - \frac{2^*-p}{2^*p} \|v\|_p^p \leq \liminf_{k \to \infty} \Phi_{b_k,\lambda}(v_k) = c^-(1,0,\lambda),$$

and therefore $||v_k|| \to ||v||$ as $k \to \infty$, which implies that $v_k \to v$ in $H_0^1(\Omega)$ and $\Phi_{0,\lambda}(v) = c^-(1,0,\lambda)$.

Proof of Theorem 1.8 See Theorem 4.6.

Acknowledgements The authors would like to thank the anonymous Referee for his/her remarkable suggestions which helped improving the quality of the manuscript. F. Faraci has been supported by the Università degli Studi di Catania, "Piano della Ricerca 2016/2018 Linea di intervento 2". She is member of the Gruppo Nazionale per l'Analisi Matematica, la Probabilità e le loro Applicazioni (GNAMPA) of the Istituto Nazionale di Alta Matematica (INdAM). K. Silva has been supported by CNPq-Grant 408604/2018-2.

Appendix A: Some topological properties of the Nehari manifolds

We collect some topological properties concerning the Nehari manifold \mathcal{N}^- . Since the dependency on each parameter will be considered, we will write the full notation $\Phi_{a,b,\lambda}$, $t_{a,b,\lambda}^-(u)$, $\mathcal{N}_{a,b,\lambda}^-$ and so on.

Similarly to Proposition 4.2 we can prove:

Lemma A.1 For each a > 0, $b \in \mathbb{R}$, $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$ and $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$, only one of the next i - iv) occurs.

- (i) The function $\psi_{a,b,\lambda,u}$ is increasing and has no critical points.
- (ii) The function $\psi_{a,b,\lambda,u}$ has only one critical point in $]0, +\infty[$ at the value $t_{a,b,\lambda}(u)$. Moreover, $\psi''_{a,b,\lambda,u}(t_{a,b,\lambda}(u)) = 0$ and $\psi_{a,b,\lambda,u}$ is increasing.
- (iii) The function $\psi_{a,b,\lambda,u}$ has only two critical points, $0 < t_{a,b,\lambda}^-(u) < t_{a,b,\lambda}^+(u)$. Moreover, $t_{a,b,\lambda}^-(u)$ is a local maximum and $t_{a,b,\lambda}^+(u)$ is a local minimum with $\psi_{a,b,\lambda,u}^{"}(t_{a,b,\lambda}^-(u)) < 0 < \psi_{a,b,\lambda,u}^{"}(t_{a,b,\lambda}^+(u))$.
- (iv) The function $\psi_{a,b,\lambda,u}$ has only one critical point in $]0,+\infty[$ at the value $t_{a,b,\lambda}^-(u)$. Moreover, $t_{a,b,\lambda}^-(u)$ is a local maximum and $\psi_{a,b,\lambda,u}''(t_{a,b,\lambda}^-(u)) < 0$.

Remark A.1 If $b \le 0$ and $\lambda \ge 0$, then only item iv) of Lemma A.1 occurs. Moreover, if b > 0, then only one of the items i > iii occurs.

Lemma A.2 Fix $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ and a > 0. Let $V \subset \mathbb{R}^2$ be an open set and assume that $t_{a,b,\lambda}^-(u)$ is defined for all $(b,\lambda) \in V$. Then the function $V \ni (b,\lambda) \mapsto t_{a,b,\lambda}^-(u)$ is C^1 . Moreover the following holds true.

- (i) The functions $t_{a,b,\lambda}^-(u)$ and $\psi_{a,b,\lambda,u}(t_{a,b,\lambda}^-(u))$ are increasing with respect to b;
- (ii) The functions $t_{a,b,\lambda}^-(u)$ and $\psi_{a,b,\lambda,u}(t_{a,b,\lambda}^-(u))$ are decreasing with respect to λ .

Proof Denote $t_{b,\lambda} = t_{a,b,\lambda}^-(u)$ and note from the implicit function theorem that $\psi'_{a,b,\lambda,u}(t_{b,\lambda}) = 0$ and $\psi''_{a,b,\lambda,u}(t_{b,\lambda}) < 0$ implies that $t_{b,\lambda}$ is C^1 as a function of $(b,\mu,\lambda) \in V$. Since

$$at_{b,\lambda}^{2}\|u\|^{2} + bt_{b,\lambda}^{4}\|u\|^{4} - t_{b,\lambda}^{2*}\mu\|u\|_{2^{*}}^{2^{*}} - \lambda t_{b,\lambda}^{p}\|u\|_{p}^{p} = 0,$$



22 Page 30 of 33 F. Faraci, K. Silva

we conclude by differentiating both sides, with respect to b, that

$$\frac{\partial t_{b,\lambda}}{\partial b} = -\frac{t_{b,\lambda}^4 ||u||^4}{\psi_{a,b,\lambda,\mu}''(t_{b,\lambda})} > 0,$$

and hence $t_{b,\lambda}$ is increasing in b. Now let $f(b) = \psi_{a,b,\lambda,u}(t_{a,b,\lambda}^-(u))$ and observe that

$$f'(b) = \frac{\partial t_{b,\lambda}}{\partial b} \psi'_{a,b,\lambda,u}(t_{b,\lambda}) + \frac{t_{b,\lambda}^4 ||u||^4}{4} > 0,$$

which implies that f is increasing and hence (i) is proved. The proof of (ii) is similar. \Box

Remark A.2 Note that a similar result can also be proved with respect to the functions $t_{a,b,\lambda}^+(u)$ and $\psi_{a,b,\lambda,u}(t_{a,b,\lambda}^+(u))$.

Denote

$$\mathcal{M}_{a,b,\lambda} = \left\{ \frac{u}{\|u\|} : u \in \mathcal{N}_{a,b,\lambda}^{-} \right\}.$$

Lemma A.3 There holds:

- (i) If $b_1 < b_2$, then $\mathcal{M}_{b_2} \subset \mathcal{M}_{b_1}$.
- (ii) If $\lambda_1 < \lambda_2$, then $\mathcal{M}_{\lambda_1} \subset \mathcal{M}_{\lambda_2}$.

Proof (i) Take $u \in \mathcal{M}_{a,b_2,\lambda}$. Once $\psi'_{a,b_1,\lambda}(t) \leq \psi'_{a,b_2,\lambda}(t)$ for all t > 0, it follows that $\psi'_{a,b_1,\lambda}(t^-_{a,b_2,\lambda}(u)) < \psi'_{a,b_2,\lambda}(t^-_{a,b_2,\lambda}(u)) = 0$ and hence, from Lemma A.1 we conclude that $u \in \mathcal{M}_{a,b_1,\lambda}$.

(ii) Take $u \in \mathcal{M}_{a,b,\lambda_1}$. Once $\psi'_{a,b,\lambda_2}(t) \leq \psi'_{a,b,\lambda_1}(t)$ for all t > 0, it follows that $\psi'_{a,b,\lambda_2}(t^-_{a,b,\lambda_1}(u)) < \psi'_{a,b,\lambda_1}(t^-_{a,b,\lambda_1}(u)) = 0$ and hence, from Proposition A.1 we conclude that $u \in \mathcal{M}_{a,b,\lambda_1}$.

Proposition A.1 Fix a > 0 and let I be an interval. Then, the following holds true.

- (i) Fix $b \in \mathbb{R}$. If $c^-(a, b, \lambda)$ is defined for all $\lambda \in I$, then it is non-increasing as a function of λ .
- (ii) $Fix \lambda \in \mathbb{R}$. If $c^-(a, b, \lambda)$ is defined for all $b \in I$, then it is non-decreasing as a function of b.

Proof i) Indeed, fix $\lambda_1 < \lambda_2$ and $u \in \mathcal{M}_{a,b,\lambda_1}$. Since from Lemma A.3 we have that $u \in \mathcal{M}_{a,b,\lambda_2}$, it follows from Lemma A.2 that

$$c^{-}(a,b,\lambda_{2}) \leq \psi_{a,b,\lambda_{2}}(t_{a,b,\lambda_{2}}^{-}(u)) < \psi_{a,b,\lambda_{1}}(t_{a,b,\lambda_{1}}^{-}(u)), \forall u \in \mathcal{M}_{a,b,\lambda_{1}}.$$
 (23)

and hence $c^-(a, b, \lambda_2) \le c^-(a, b, \lambda_1)$. The proof of ii) is similar.

Proposition A.2 Fix a > 0 and let I be an interval. Then, the following holds true.

- (i) Fix $\lambda \in \mathbb{R}$. If $c^-(a, b, \lambda)$ is defined for all $b \in I$, then it is right continuous as a function of b.
- (ii) Fix $b \in \mathbb{R}$. If $c^-(a, b, \lambda)$ is defined for all $\lambda \in I$, then it is right continuous as a function of λ .



Proof (i) Fix $b_0 \in I$. We claim that $\lim_{b \downarrow b_0} c^-(a, b, \lambda) = c^-(a, b_0, \lambda)$. Indeed, once $I \ni b \mapsto c^{-}(a, b, \lambda)$ is non-decreasing, we can assume that $\lim_{b \downarrow b_0} c^{-}(a, b, \lambda) = c \ge 1$ $c^-(a, b_0, \lambda)$. Suppose on the contrary that $c > c^-(a, b_0, \lambda)$. Given $\varepsilon > 0$ choose $u \in \mathcal{M}_{a, b_0, \lambda}$ such that $\Phi_{a,b_0,\lambda}(t_{a,b_0,\lambda}^-(u)u) \in [c^-(a,b_0,\lambda),c^-(a,b_0,\lambda)+\varepsilon)$ and $c^-(a,b_0,\lambda)+\varepsilon < c$. From Lemma A.2 we conclude that for small $\delta > 0$

$$c^-(a, b_0 + \delta, \lambda) \leq \Phi_{a, b_0 + \delta, \lambda}(t_{a, b_0 + \delta, \lambda}^-(u)u) < c^-(a, b_0, \lambda) + \varepsilon < c,$$

which is a contradiction and thus $I \ni b \mapsto c^-(a, b, \lambda)$ is right continuous. The proof of (ii) is similar.

Appendix B: The case $\lambda = 0$

We collect some results concerning the fiber maps ψ when $\lambda = 0$. The parameter now is b > 0, while a > 0 is fixed. For this reason, we write $\psi_{b,u}$ and Φ_b instead of $\psi_{0,u}$ and Φ_0 and so on. As we already know, for each $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ the fiber map $\psi_{b,u}$ has satisfies Proposition 4.2. One can see now that the systems $\psi_{b,u}(t) = \psi'_{b,u}(t) = 0$ and $\psi'_{b,u}(t) = \psi''_{b,u}(t) = 0$ admits a unique solution, with respect to t, b, which are given respectively by (see [5] and [18]

$$t_0(u) = \left(\frac{2^* a}{4 - 2^*} \frac{\|u\|^2}{\|u\|_{2^*}^{2^*}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2^* - 2}},$$

$$b_0(u) = a^{\frac{4 - N}{2}} S_N^{\frac{N}{2}} C_1(N) \left(\frac{\|u\|_{2^*}}{\|u\|}\right)^N,$$

and

$$t(u) = \left(\frac{2a}{4 - 2^*} \frac{\|u\|^2}{\|u\|_{2^*}^{2^*}}\right)^{\frac{1}{2^* - 2}},$$

$$b(u) = a^{\frac{4 - N}{2}} S_N^{\frac{N}{2}} C_2(N) \left(\frac{\|u\|_{2^*}}{\|u\|}\right)^N.$$

As a conclusion of this analysis and similar to Propositions 2.4 and 3.7 we have

Proposition B.1 *There holds*

- (i) For each $b \ge b_0(u)$ and each $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$, $\inf_{t>0} \psi_{b,u}(t) = 0$; for each $b < b_0(u)$ there exists $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$ such that $\Phi_b(u) < 0$.
- (ii) For each $b \ge b(u)$, the set $\mathcal{N}_b = \emptyset$; for each b < b(u), the sets \mathcal{N}_b^+ , \mathcal{N}_b^- and \mathcal{N}_b^0 are non empty.

Therefore:

Lemma B.1 *The following holds true.*

- (i) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b < C_1(N)$, then there exists $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)\setminus\{0\}$ such that $\Phi_b(u) < 0$.
- (ii) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b \ge C_1(N)$, then $\psi_{b,u}(t) > 0$ for all $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)\setminus\{0\}$ and t > 0.
- (iii) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b < C_2(N)$, then $\mathcal{N}_h^0, \mathcal{N}_h^-, \mathcal{N}_h^+$ are non-empty.
- (iv) If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b \ge C_2(N)$, then $\mathcal{N}_b = \emptyset$.



22 Page 32 of 33 F. Faraci, K. Silva

Remark B.1 Comparing Lemmas B.1 and 2.2 we see that

- (i) Φ_b is weak lower semi-continuous if, and only, $\Phi_b(u) \geq 0$ for all $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)$.
- (ii) If $\Phi_b'(u)u > 0$ for all $u \in H_0^1(\Omega)\setminus\{0\}$, then Φ_b satisfies the Palais-Smale condition. Equivalently $\mathcal{N}_b = \emptyset$.

Corollary B.1 If $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b < C_2(N)$, then for all $\lambda > 0$ we have $\mathcal{N}_b^- \neq \emptyset$.

Proof Indeed, this is a consequence of Lemmas B.1 and A.3. We also refer the reader to [13, Lemma 2.61.

The next lemma is an application of Lemma A.2 and Remark A.2:

Lemma B.2 Fix $u \in H_0^1(\Omega) \setminus \{0\}$. The following holds true.

- (i) The function (0, b(u)) ∋→ t_b⁻(u) is continuous and increasing.
 (ii) The function (0, b(u)) ∋→ t_b⁺(u) is continuous and decreasing.

(iii)

$$\lim_{b \uparrow b(u)} t_b^{-}(u) = t(u) = \lim_{b \uparrow b(u)} t_b^{+}(u).$$

The following proposition can be found in [18,19] (with some adaptations). We give an outline of the proof (recall from Lemma B.1 that $\mathcal{N}_h^0, \mathcal{N}_h^-$ are not empty for all a, b > 0satisfying $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b < C_2(N)$:

Proposition B.2 Suppose that $a^{\frac{N-4}{2}}b < C_2(N)$, then

$$\Phi_b(u) = \frac{(2^* - 2)^2 a^2}{4 \cdot 2^* (4 - 2^*) b}, \forall u \in \mathcal{N}_b^0.$$

Moreover,

$$c^{-}(a,b,0) < \frac{(2^*-2)^2 a^2}{4 \cdot 2^* (4-2^*) b} = c^{0}(a,b,0).$$

Proof The first part is trivial. Now suppose on the contrary that there exists $u \in \mathcal{N}_h^-$ such that

$$\Phi_b(u) \ge \frac{(2^* - 2)^2 a^2}{4 \cdot 2^* (4 - 2^*) b}.$$

From Lemma B.2 we have that $t_b^-(u) = 1 < t_{b'}^-(u) < t_{b'}^+(u) < t_b^+(u)$ for each $0 < b < t_b^+(u)$ b' < b(u) and hence

$$\begin{split} \Phi_{b'}(t_{b'}^{-}(u)u) &> \Phi_{b'}(u) \\ &> \Phi_{b}(u) \\ &\geq \frac{(2^* - 2)^2 a^2}{4 \cdot 2^* (4 - 2^*) b}, \end{split}$$

which implies that

$$\frac{(2^*-2)^2a^2}{4\cdot 2^*(4-2^*)b} < \lim_{b'\uparrow b(u)} \Phi_{b'}(t_{b'}^-(u)u) = \Phi_{b(u)}(t_b(u)u) = \frac{(2^*-2)^2a^2}{4\cdot 2^*(4-2^*)b(u)},$$

a contradiction since b < b(u).



References

- Alves, C.O., Corrêa, F.J., Figueiredo, G.M.: On a class of nonlocal elliptic problems with critical growth. Differ. Equ. Appl. 2, 409–417 (2010)
- Brézis, H., Nirenberg, L.: Positive solutions of nonlinear elliptic equations involving critical Sobolev exponents. Commun. Pure Appl. Math. 36, 437–477 (1983)
- Corrêa, F.J., Figueiredo, G.M.: On an elliptic equation of p-Kirchhoff type via variational methods. Bull. Aust. Math. Soc. 74, 263–277 (2006)
- Fan, H.: Multiple positive solutions for a class of Kirchhoff type problems involving critical Sobolev exponents. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 431, 150–168 (2015)
- Faraci, F., Farkas, C.: On an open question of Ricceri concerning a Kirchhoff-type problem. Minimax Theory Appl. 4, 271–280 (2019)
- Figueiredo, G.M.: Existence of a positive solution for a Kirchhoff problem type with critical growth via truncation argument. J. Math. Anal. Appl. 401, 706–713 (2013)
- Figueiredo, G.M., Santos, J.R.: Multiplicity of solutions for a Kirchhoff equation with subcritical or critical growth. Differ. Integral Equ. 25, 853–868 (2012)
- Hebey, E.: Compactness and the Palais–Smale property for critical Kirchhoff equations in closed manifolds. Pac. J. Math. 280, 41–50 (2016)
- Hebey, E.: Multiplicity of solutions for critical Kirchhoff type equations. Commun. Partial Differ. Equ. 41, 913–924 (2016)
- Il'Yasov, Y.: On extreme values of Nehari manifold method via nonlinear Rayleigh's quotient. Topol. Methods Nonlinear Anal. 49, 683–714 (2017)
- 11. Kirchhoff, G.: Mechanik. Teubner, Leipzig (1883)
- Naimen, D.: Positive solutions of Kirchhoff type elliptic equations involving a critical Sobolev exponent. NoDEA Nonlinear Differ. Equ. Appl. 21(6), 885–914 (2014)
- Naimen, D., Shibata, M.: Two positive solutions for the Kirchhoff type elliptic problem with critical nonlinearity in high dimension. Nonlinear Anal. 186, 187–208 (2019)
- Nehari, Z.: On a class of nonlinear second-order differential equations. Trans. Am. Math. Soc. 95, 101–123 (1960)
- Nehari, Z.: Characteristic values associated with a class of non-linear second-order differential equations. Acta Math. 105, 141–175 (1961)
- Pokhozhaev, S.I.: The fibration method for solving nonlinear boundary value problems, Translated in Proc. Steklov Inst. Math. 1992, no. 3, 157–173. Differential equations and function spaces (Russian). Trudy Mat. Inst. Steklov. 192:146–163 (1990)
- Pucci, P., Radulescu, V.D.: Progress in nonlinear Kirchhoff problems, [Editorial]. Nonlinear Anal. 186, 1–5 (2019)
- Silva, K.: The bifurcation diagram of an elliptic Kirchhoff-type equation with respect to the stiffness of the material. Z. Angew. Math. Phys. 70, 13 (2019)
- Silva, K.: On an abstract bifurcation result concerning homogeneous potential operators with applications to PDEs. J. Differ. Equ. 269(9), 7643–7675 (2020)
- Yao, X., Mu, C.: Multiplicity of solutions for Kirchhoff type equations involving critical Sobolev exponents in high dimension. Math. Methods Appl. Sci. 39, 3722–3734 (2016)

Publisher's Note Springer Nature remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

